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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  This is the City

          3  Council Committee on Parks and Recreation.

          4                 I would like to welcome you to this

          5  joint hearing with the Committee on Mental Health,

          6  Mental Retardation, Alcoholism, Drug Abuse and

          7  Disability Services, chaired by my fellow Bronx

          8  colleague, Council Member Oliver Koppell.

          9                 Today the Committee will conduct an

         10  oversight hearing regarding wheelchair accessibility

         11  in New York City parks and playgrounds, as well as

         12  the other Department of Parks facilities.

         13                 The hearing will look at the history

         14  and current status of wheelchair accessibility in

         15  DPR facilities, while focusing on the office of the

         16  state comptroller's 2005 Audit Report regarding

         17  DPR's efforts at providing access to its facilities

         18  for persons with wheelchairs or disabilities.

         19                 We will also look at the Audit's

         20  recommendation, DPR's response to these

         21  recommendations, as well as an update as to what DPR

         22  is currently doing to resolve these issues and

         23  problems identified by the Audit Report.

         24                 Prior to hearing from the first

         25  witness, I am going to turn it over to Council
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          2  Member Koppell for his opening statement, and he can

          3  introduce the members of his Committee because his

          4  committee members are here so far.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Good afternoon

          6  I guess it is, everyone.

          7                 As indicated by my colleague, Council

          8  Member Foster, I am chairman of the Council's

          9  Committee on Mental Health, Mental Retardation,

         10  Alcoholism, Drug Abuse and Disability Services, and

         11  the Committee has obviously has a broad

         12  jurisdiction, and today's hearing deals particularly

         13  with the Committee's involvement with disability

         14  services.

         15                 I am not going to read the entire

         16  prepared statement because Helen Foster has already

         17  discussed the purpose of the hearing, and also the

         18  report by the state comptroller, which I must admit

         19  I had not seen before this hearing was scheduled,

         20  and which was actually quite disturbing to me.

         21                 I was glad, however, to see that the

         22  City in response to that report, essentially, agreed

         23  with all the recommendations of the report.

         24                 So, I think today's hearing should

         25  focus, and I am sure will focus on the degree to
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          2  which those recommendations either have been

          3  implemented, or are being implemented.

          4                 So, I look forward to the testimony

          5  and I also think that to the extent we can, I think

          6  we ought to consider, council member, the

          7  possibility of some legislation that would make

          8  clear in law the obligations of the Parks

          9  Department.  At least consider it, whether there

         10  should be legislation.

         11                 We are joined by two members of  --

         12  actually three members of my committee.  I am very

         13  pleased to say we have Annabel Palma my colleague

         14  from the Bronx, and we have Simcha Felder from

         15  Brooklyn, and we now have Jim Gennaro from Queens. So

         16  , they are all members of the Mental Health and

         17  Disability Services Committee, and I look forward to

         18  the testimony.

         19                 I do not know if any members of my

         20  committee have anything they want to say to start

         21  off?  No?

         22                 Okay, thank you.

         23                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  The first

         24  witnesses will be Commissioner Matthew Sapolin, and

         25  Nancy Barthold from Parks.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER SAPOLIN:  Thank you, I

          3  am going to start.  Good morning council members,

          4  and chairs.  Thanks for having us this here this

          5  afternoon.

          6                 My statement is going to be brief,

          7  and general in nature.

          8                 I am the Commissioner of the Mayor's

          9  Office for People with Disabilities where we are

         10  charged with serving as the liaison between the

         11  disabled community and the Mayoralty, serving as the

         12  in- house advocate and key policy advisor to the

         13  Mayoralty and its agencies, making sure that folks

         14  with disabilities are included in the development of

         15  city programs and services.

         16                 As it relates to our conversation

         17  today, I am very happy to say that since coming to

         18  this Administration in October of 2002 one of the

         19  first commissioner's I met was Commissioner Adrian

         20  Benepe, who at that time, we were perhaps just

         21  talking about inclusion of people with disabilities

         22  in the New York City Marathon.  But since that very

         23  basic conversation, we have established two methods

         24  in which we work together, and this is prior to the

         25  Audit or the results of the Audit.
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          2                 First systemically where we have sat

          3  down with various assistant commissioners of

          4  capital, et cetera and talked about ways of globally

          5  keeping the doors of communication open such that we

          6  could provide them assistance and technical support

          7  and feedback on any of the projects.  So those

          8  systemic conversations crossed programs, crossed

          9  capital, et cetera.

         10                 Then we also had a need as we served

         11  constituents also on a one- on- one type basis, and

         12  a mechanism by which we can respond to particular

         13  complaints from the community, whether it be a

         14  broken curb cut or something else in a Parks

         15  facility, and on each of these fronts, the systemic

         16  conversations, and the day to day assistance, we

         17  have had terrific response from the Parks

         18  Department.

         19                 Aside from some of the things you

         20  will hear today as Councilman Koppell points out,

         21  you will hear some of the progress that the Parks

         22  Department has made in its efforts to respond to the

         23  Audit.  But beyond that, I want to make it clear

         24  that the Parks Department has been very proactive,

         25  whether it be seeking guidance from my architect,
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          2  Robert Picillo (phonetic) who is also my deputy

          3  commissioner on ways of making monuments accessible,

          4  for example Fort Greene Monument, or ways of

          5  including universal design elements into things like

          6  the Pee Wee Reese Memorial, which you can see out at

          7  Key Span Park.  Those are just two examples.

          8                 I promised to keep my testimony

          9  brief, which is hard for me, so I will shut up and

         10  turn it over to Nancy.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 MS. BARTHOLD:  Thank you, good

         13  afternoon Chairwoman Foster and members of the Parks

         14  Committee, and Chairman Koppell, and members of the

         15  Mental Health Committee.

         16                 On behalf of Mayor Bloomberg, Deputy

         17  Mayor Harris, and Commissioner Benepe, my name is

         18  Nancy Barthold, and I am Assistant Commissioner for

         19  Recreation and Programming at Parks.

         20                 With me today is Victor Calise,

         21  Accessibility Coordinator, Charles Rudesill, Deputy

         22  Director of Landscape Design and ADA Liaison for

         23  Capital Projects, and our Government Relations team

         24  of Danielle King and Michael Schnall.

         25                 Thank you for the opportunity to
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          2  discuss accessibility in New York City parks.

          3                 Parks and Recreation is the steward

          4  of almost 29,000 acres of land, 14 percent of New

          5  York City, including more than 4,000 individual

          6  properties ranging from Yankee Stadium and Central

          7  Park to community gardens and greenstreets.  We

          8  operate more than 800 athletic fields, and nearly

          9  1,000 playgrounds.  We manage four major stadiums,

         10  550 tennis courts, 51 public pools, 34 recreation

         11  centers, 12 nature centers, 13 golf courses, and 14

         12  miles of beaches.  We care for 1,200 monuments and

         13  22 historic house museums.  We look after 500,000

         14  street trees, and 2 million more in parks.  We are

         15  New York City's principle provider of athletic

         16  facilities.  We are home to free concerts, world-

         17  class sports events, and cultural festivals.

         18                 For more information about Parks

         19  visit our website at WWW.NYC.GOV/PARKS.

         20                 Ensuring that our facilities are

         21  accessible to all patrons is a significant agency

         22  priority.  Throughout the Bloomberg Administration

         23  we have ensured that all of our capital designs have

         24  been ADA compliant.  Our Parks designers embrace the

         25  challenge to develop accessible solutions for

                                                            11

          1  PARKS AND RECREATION AND MENTAL HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2  facilities built years ago before the current

          3  accessibility standards existed.             Even

          4  though Parks faces a challenge due to funding

          5  constraints and the shear number of facilities under

          6  its jurisdiction, we remain committed to

          7  accessibility.  Many of our capital projects provide

          8  for reconstruction of a specific feature of a park

          9  or playground, and do not include a full- scale

         10  reconstruction of the entire property.

         11                 The Americans with Disabilities Act

         12  is a comprehensive civil rights law that deals with

         13  equal opportunity and integration.  The intent of

         14  the ADA under Title II is to protect qualified

         15  individuals with disabilities from discrimination on

         16  the basis of disability in the services and programs

         17  of state and local governments.  The ADA requires

         18  that each service program or activity conducted by a

         19  public entity, when viewed in its entirety, be

         20  readily accessible to, and usable by individuals

         21  with disabilities.

         22                 In addition, requirements for program

         23  accessibility in existing buildings may require

         24  alterations to make a building more accessible than

         25  it is at present, and can also require reasonable
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          2  modifications to rules or practices and the

          3  provision for auxiliary aids and services.

          4                 Our primary focus on making our

          5  facilities accessible has been through our capital

          6  projects division.  When a park or playground is

          7  reconstructed, our designers follow current ADA

          8  guidelines.  This involves the participation of

          9  every capital projects division, including

         10  interagency coordination, requirements contracts,

         11  five- borough comfort stations, and greenstreets.

         12                 Long before the Americans with

         13  Disabilities Act was signed into law, Parks began

         14  exploring ways to bring recreational activities to

         15  all New York City children.  As part of an early

         16  1970's initiative to create one playground in each

         17  borough for children with disabilities, Parks opened

         18  our first playground for all children in Flushing

         19  Meadows/Corona Park in 1984.  This was the first

         20  playground construction in the United States for

         21  both able- bodied children, and children with

         22  disabilities.  It served as a prototype for similar

         23  sites across New York City, the United States, and

         24  the world.  This playground was designed to

         25  accommodate children using crutches, canes, walkers,
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          2  or wheelchairs, and to provide many opportunities

          3  for social, cognitive, sensory and motor activity.

          4                 Two years ago, Parks was the subject

          5  of a state audit on accessibility.  The results of

          6  the Audit indicated that many of Parks facilities

          7  had been upgraded to improve accessibility.  Seven

          8  areas were noted in which Parks could improve

          9  accessibility.  Those areas include establishing a

         10  detailed transition plan, ensuring that ADA

         11  accessibility is incorporated in all new and major

         12  alteration projects, providing written guidelines

         13  for major alteration projects, appointing an ADA

         14  coordinator to oversee all accessibility issues,

         15  developing a grievance procedure for handling

         16  complaints, enhancing the Parks website to provide

         17  the public with more information about accessible

         18  facilities and services, and posting international

         19  signage for accessible entrances and facilities.

         20                 In December of 2005, Commissioner

         21  Benepe named me the point person on accessibility

         22  issues.  In response to the Audit, in the early part

         23  of 2006, we quickly developed a grievance procedure

         24  which can be found on our website.  We prepared

         25  written guidelines for major alteration work, and
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          2  have made improvements to our website.  We have also

          3  taken steps towards developing a transition plan.

          4  This plan will provide a detailed assessment of how

          5  we are going to bring all of our facilities and the

          6  corresponding programs into compliance with ADA.

          7                 Parks created a Facilities Assessment

          8  Template that field personnel have used to determine

          9  if parks and playgrounds are accessible.  In the

         10  spring and summer of 2006, 1,800 Facility

         11  Assessment's for small and large parks, playground

         12  and greenstreets were conducted.  All the data has

         13  been entered into a data base, and a draft

         14  transition plan will be ready in 2007.

         15                 As we have collected the data, we

         16  have been able to pull out information about where

         17  we need signage, and will soon be adding more

         18  accessible signage to our parks and playgrounds.

         19                 This summer, interns using hand held

         20  computers and GPS, mapped all park entrances to

         21  determine if they are accessible.  These maps will

         22  soon be added to our website.

         23                 We have developed a close working

         24  relationship with the Mayor's Office of People with

         25  Disabilities, and they have been a great resource
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          2  for us.  We have also used the organization United

          3  Spinal to assist us in many aspects of ADA

          4  compliance and programming, including the review of

          5  capital project designs for accessibility.

          6                 In moving forward, we will be setting

          7  up a committee of resource people outside the agency

          8  who will provide us with comment on ADA issues.  We

          9  will be bringing more accessible programming to our

         10  facilities, and working to make more of our existing

         11  events and programs available to all people. We will

         12  offer training to our recreation staff, specifically

         13  playground associates so that they can offer more

         14  diverse activities at our sites, and we will

         15  continue to work on our website to both provide

         16  information and links to other programs in the City,

         17  and make it more usable by the disabled community.

         18                 The ADA Accessibility Guidelines have

         19  affected the way Parks approaches each capital

         20  project so that accessibility is incorporated into

         21  our projects from the onset.  We consider

         22  accessibility to be a positive upgrade that can

         23  benefit all users in regard to spacial quality,

         24  safety and inclusiveness. Accessible design features

         25  always include providing an accessible route, and
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          2  often include other accessibility considerations.

          3                 Some examples of recent capital

          4  projects that highlight Parks commitment to

          5  improving accessibility is the provision of a

          6  playground for all children in Pelham Bay Park in

          7  the Bronx.  At Playground 70, P.S. 199, at West 70th

          8  Street in Manhattan, Parks built a playground for

          9  all children that recognized nationally advocated

         10  standards for universal accessibility.  The East

         11  54th Street Recreation Center features accessible

         12  toilet facilities and street access elevator.

         13  Handsborough Recreation Center is now equipped with

         14  elevators, a water street level entrance, and

         15  accessible toilet facilities. Chelsea Rec. Center

         16  includes widened corridors and an accessible route

         17  to the pool and elevators.  At Sorrentino Recreation

         18  Center in Queens, we are now building a new

         19  wheelchair lift to provide broad access.

         20                 Using in- house forces, we have

         21  provided accessible swings at 75 locations

         22  throughout the City.  We have lined the asphalt

         23  field at Bulova Park in Queens for wheelchair

         24  baseball, and just lined the asphalt field at

         25  Victory Field in Forest Park, Queens for wheelchair

                                                            17

          1  PARKS AND RECREATION AND MENTAL HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2  football.  We have made improvements to the Lasker

          3  Skating Rink in Central Park so that sled- hockey

          4  can be played there.

          5                 Eleven out of our 33 outdoor pools

          6  are accessible, and nine of our 11 indoor pools are

          7  accessible, and we plan to make more accessible.

          8                 Parks operates special programs

          9  designed for children with disabilities dedicated to

         10  the concept of`play for all' to allow children of

         11  all abilities to play together in a safe and

         12  exciting play environment.

         13                 As I mentioned before, the playground

         14  for all children in Flushing Meadows/Corona Park

         15  built in 1984, provides an opportunity for disabled

         16  and abled children.  This playground for all

         17  children was the first playground built in the

         18  United States for both able- bodied and children

         19  with disabilities to enjoy.  After holding a design

         20  competition in the late 1970's, Parks selected the

         21  winning design and transformed it into a real

         22  working dreamland.  The pioneering playground

         23  allowed children to share meaningful play

         24  experiences, and the park quickly became a model for

         25  other playgrounds.  The playground has now been re
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          2  envisioned with a current construction contract

          3  which retains the most loved and successful pieces

          4  of equipment, and adds new equipment, including a

          5  boat glider swing and will give wings to children in

          6  wheelchairs.  The new design features a musical

          7  walkway with freestanding musical notes, and an

          8  accessible play village, complete with a school, a

          9  fire station, houses, cars, and working traffic

         10  lights.  This playground is dedicated to the concept

         11  of`play for all' to allow children of all abilities

         12  to play together in a safe and exciting play

         13  environment.  The playground reaches out to all the

         14  schools in Manhattan, Queens, Brooklyn and the

         15  Bronx.  School trips include arts and crafts, games,

         16  and once a month a carnival with face painting,

         17  entertainment, arts and crafts, and sometimes karate

         18  lessons for children aged three to twelve.

         19                 When children with disabilities are

         20  included, the accompanying teachers participate.

         21  They can handle a maximum of 200 children per day.

         22  The playground reopens to the general public after

         23  lunch.  During the summer, the playground for all

         24  children provides programs for 200 children, five

         25  days a week.
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          2                 At the Owen Dolen Recreation Center

          3  in the Bronx field trips are provided for disabled

          4  children aged seven to 21 years old.  The program

          5  reaches out to children in Brooklyn, Bronx, Queens

          6  and Staten Island.  The program operates Saturdays

          7  throughout the year.  During the month of July they

          8  offer summer camp.

          9                 At the Granitville Outreach and

         10  Therapeutic Recreation Center in Staten Island,

         11  programs are provided and workshops for all special

         12  needs groups, including adults and children aged

         13  five to 15.  The groups include cerebral palsy,

         14  downs syndrome and autistic children.  Programs

         15  include crafts and outdoor playground activities.

         16  Supervision is done by staff, parents, teachers, and

         17  other professionals.  The Center holds a maximum of

         18  50 children.  The building is heated and air

         19  conditioned.  Special parties with a DJ are held at

         20  Christmas and Halloween.  One time each year they

         21  sponsor a fair and distribute flyers with

         22  information about their programs.

         23                 At Bloomingdale Part in Staten

         24  Island, Parks completed work to develop 15 acres of

         25  park for active recreation purposes.  The new park
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          2  designs include three fields for softball, baseball

          3  and soccer, a new playground with spray shower and

          4  swings, two basketball courts, a boccie court and

          5  comfort station.

          6                 In the spring of 2006, Parks

          7  completed in additional to the existing playground

          8  that includes integrated equipment for disabled

          9  children and their care givers.  The new facility

         10  enhances the existing playground with a diverse

         11  selection of play experiences, including swings,

         12  accessible play equipment, a fitness unit and picnic

         13  tables, and I believe we have some nice photographs

         14  of that playground with us.

         15                 Bethesda Aquatics in partnership with

         16  Parks and Recreation's Citywide Aquatics Division

         17  offer aquatic therapy instruction to children and

         18  adults of all ages at five park pool locations.

         19  Aquatic therapy is a complete body workout, and

         20  ranges from gentle walking in water to high energy

         21  exercise.  It helps alleviate pain, improve

         22  circulation and promote healing and muscle

         23  development for those suffering from physical

         24  ailments resulting from injury, disease or aging.

         25  Instructors from Bethesda Aquatics are specialized
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          2  in providing aquatic therapy to people with the

          3  following conditions; attention deficit/hyper

          4  activity disorder, autism, cerebral palsy, downs

          5  syndrome, hearing impairment, mental retardation,

          6  multiple sclerosis, muscular dystrophy, spina

          7  bifida, spinal cord injury, and cardio vascular

          8  accident.

          9                 Last spring at Roy Wilkens Park, we

         10  held a wheelchair basketball clinic for 30 high

         11  school students to let them experience wheelchair

         12  basketball.

         13                 We offer wheelchair ballroom dancing

         14  for adults at East 54th Street.

         15                 At High Bridge Park in Manhattan, we

         16  are now offering quad rugby practices for children

         17  and adults with physical disabilities.

         18                 I would be happy to answer any

         19  questions.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

         21                 We have been joined by Council Member

         22  Gale Brewer, and Council Member Joe Addabbo, and

         23  Council Member Dennis Gallagher.

         24                 Before we get started, I apologize

         25  for the conditions but if you would like to move up,
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          2  I know this barrier is preventing people from

          3  seeing.  So, you can move up the wheelchairs if you

          4  would like, just as long as we have a path to walk

          5  out.

          6                 I have just a few questions, and then

          7  I will turn them over to you.

          8                 In your testimony, you mentioned that

          9  a draft transition plan will be ready in 2007.  How

         10  does that comply or does it not comply with the

         11  comptroller's report requiring a 90 day response?

         12  Where is that, and that is the first question?

         13                 Just let me ask the second, and the

         14  second having to do with the hand held devices that

         15  you actually assess the parks, did you work with

         16  someone who  --  in the disabled community, that

         17  would know what you are looking for?  I mean, it

         18  would be simple for me but to say,`oh, this isn't

         19  accessible or not' but having the familiarity of

         20  working with people in the community.

         21                 MS. BARTHOLD:  When we were required

         22  to reply to the Audit, they cited seven or so

         23  issues.  In that reply, we said that we would draft

         24  a transition plan in 2007.

         25                 A transition plan is a large task.
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          2  We have started to do it using our field staff. The

          3  mapping of the entrances by using GPS was

          4  supplemental.  We had interns.  They were

          5  knowledgeable in GPS.  Our MIS Division has hand

          6  held computers, and mapped them by GPS but we have

          7  field staff who are going out after an extensive

          8  training class and actually walking every park.

          9                 Did we use members of the

         10  accessibility

         11  community?  No, but it is mapping of thousands of

         12  properties.  I am fortunate  --  I took on this

         13  responsibility along with my other responsibilities,

         14  and now have been joined by an accessibility

         15  coordinator who is assisting me, who is now

         16  gathering the data, which is all completed on every

         17  park.  It is in a data base, and he is checking it.

         18                 He, fortunate or unfortunate, is able

         19  to field check it if he feels he needs to, and I

         20  think that is a tremendous resource for us.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay, so going

         22  back to the report, in your response to the

         23  comptroller, the answer to the 90 days was that you

         24  were going to put this transition plan in response?

         25                 You were going to put together a
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          2  transition plan?

          3                 MS. BARTHOLD:  In 2007.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  So that takes

          5  care of the 90 days requirement to reply?

          6                 MS. BARTHOLD:  Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay, and when

          8  you say intensive training before they went out,

          9  what does that include?

         10                 MS. BARTHOLD:  They went to a class

         11  for one day, and then a field class for several

         12  hours, and they were given the opportunity to ask

         13  questions of our training director who is well

         14  versed in ADA guidelines.  They are pretty much by

         15  the book when you look at an entrance, and there are

         16  many things that I agree that the disabled community

         17  can help us out with, but these are building codes

         18  and can be taught.  It is just a massive amount of

         19  properties, and these field staff are responsible

         20  for maintaining these properties, and are expected

         21  to be out there every day.  So to us, it was felt to

         22  be the best resource.  They are out there checking

         23  that it is safe.  They are checking that it is

         24  clean. We gave them a checklist to check if it is

         25  accessible, and we had a database, they are all
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          2  scanned, and we are able to tell if there are

          3  disparities.  This is what Victor Calise is now

          4  doing, is checking, and he is actually checking the

          5  GPS mapping against the field personnel's field

          6  check.

          7                 So I mean, computers are a wonderful

          8  thing.  We have the ability to cross- check.  We

          9  have a very talented web master who is able to help

         10  him cross- check it.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Just briefly,

         12  what are guidelines and Victor Calise, is that how I

         13  say it, Calise, if anyone could respond.  But what

         14  makes a facility wheelchair accessible?  What are

         15  the guidelines?

         16                 MR. CALISE:  Well, we need to gain

         17  access to the facility so we assess that, and we

         18  gave people the tools and the knowledge to do that.

         19  They came through with  --  we have a list that we

         20  put together, and it talks about what is accessible

         21  and what is not.  So we are looking at the data.

         22                 So once we have the information for

         23  the entrance, then we know we can look further into

         24  the park.  Is the court accessible?  Is the field

         25  accessible?  Can people be spectators? Are the water
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          2  fountains accessible?

          3                 So, that is what we have been doing.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I would assume

          5  that specifics as to what to look for in terms of

          6  maybe the slope or that the curb isn't so many

          7  inches so that both hand held or electric

          8  wheelchairs can go up, those types of things?

          9                 MR. CALISE:  Yes, it is a one- to-

         10  twelve ratio.  We are making sure that is there,

         11  making sure that there are curb cuts to get to the

         12  park.  Because if you can't get to the park, you

         13  can't use it.  So, we are looking into that as well.

         14    That is part of our assessment, our field

         15  assessment was to look at those things as well.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  What exactly

         17  falls under your job description?

         18                 What are your duties as the

         19  coordinator?

         20                 MR. CALISE:  Well my duties are to

         21  see this data, assess it, and then put it in a

         22  transition plan.  That is some of the things that I

         23  am doing now is finding out if there is a mistake on

         24  their forms, to talk to that manager and say,`Hey,

         25  what is going on?  Why isn't this accessible?  You
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          2  have one thing, we have another thing.  What can we

          3  do to check that out?

          4                 So, we are looking into those issues

          5  now, and those are some of the things that I am

          6  doing as of right now.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  When you, and I

          8  have always said that the Parks Department is one of

          9  the better agencies that when we are doing things,

         10  the scope and design you really work with the

         11  community.

         12                 Do you have people specifically on

         13  the staff of the Parks Department to, in scope or

         14  design meetings, to look at the ADA accessibility as

         15  we build parks?

         16                 MS. BARTHOLD:  Actually since before

         17  1992 when this became law, Charlie Rudesill who is

         18  with us today, who is a landscape architect, has

         19  been an expert on the regulations and the codes, and

         20  we have also used over the last few years, United

         21  Spinal and the Mayor's Office of People with

         22  Disabilities as a resource.  So yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  A last question

         24  before I turn it over.

         25                 Have you had informal or formal
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          2  feedback from the people who actually would need to

          3  use the parks, and whether they find it accessible

          4  really, and is user- friendly?

          5                 MS. BARTHOLD:  Well, in some recent

          6  large projects we have called together groups from

          7  the disabled community to give input.  ICON Stadium

          8  is one, the stadiums we have had several groups

          9  speak to us about Yankee and Shea Stadium.

         10                 Do we have a formal process to survey

         11  people as to whether it is accessible?  No, but we

         12  do now have a very open grievance process, and I

         13  will say that I do hear regularly from people with

         14  concerns or compliments, and do address them.  I

         15  have come across people in the community who have

         16  given insightful information, and we do intend to

         17  formalize a group that we can call upon regularly.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I know I said

         19  that was my last question, but this is my last

         20  question.

         21                 Tell me a little about the grievance

         22  process how that works.

         23                 MS. BARTHOLD:  Well on our website

         24  there is a process, and you actually contact our EEO

         25  Officer, and he reviews it and it really gets routed
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          2  to me, and I look into it.

          3                 Now that Victor is here, and we

          4  actually have an ADA department, it is likely that

          5  the name on the website may change, but I believe

          6  over the last few months that was a concern of the

          7  Audit.  I do agree that it is not good if complaints

          8  go multiple places, and I believe we have been

          9  responsive to that.

         10                 I wanted to just go back to the

         11  Facilities Assessment.  We did not just come up with

         12  a Facilities Assessment.  There is a certain number

         13  of criteria by law that needs to be compliant in

         14  order to make a park compliant, and through a group

         15  of five people who are well versed in this, we came

         16  up with the criteria the park supervisor had to look

         17  for. It is not as if we just decided that they were

         18  going to inspect these features.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

         20                 We have been joined by Alan Gerson

         21  from Manhattan.

         22                 I will turn it over to you, Council

         23  Member Koppell.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Thank you very

         25  much, and I am going to ask a few questions, and I
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          2  think some members of the Committee have questions.

          3                 Certainly what you said sounded good

          4  but there is some evidence that I want to explore

          5  with you that suggests that maybe things have not

          6  been going as quickly as they should.

          7                 I have here the report of the

          8  comptroller, which indicated some significant

          9  deficiencies as you admitted, and you agreed that

         10  you had made certain corrections which are set forth

         11  at the end of that report.

         12                 This report was issued by the

         13  comptroller, and it looks to me like these documents

         14  are properly dated, on December 28th, 2005, almost a

         15  year ago, December 28th, 2005, included in the

         16  report that we have is a letter from Frank D'Ercola

         17  who is the Deputy Chief Fiscal Officer of the

         18  Department of Parks.  That letter is interestingly

         19  dated July 11th, 2005.  At first I thought that was

         20  a mistake, but in thinking about it, and in reading

         21  the letter more carefully, I realized that is not a

         22  mistake because this says, "Thank you for forwarding

         23  your draft report of Parks compliance with the

         24  Americans with Disabilities Act for our comments

         25  before its public release."

                                                            31

          1  PARKS AND RECREATION AND MENTAL HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2                 So this was sent more than a year

          3  ago, last summer,  after the got a copy of the

          4  Hevesi report, before it was released, and for

          5  whatever reason the comptroller, Mr. Hevesi, did not

          6  release it until December, which was almost six

          7  months after this letter was sent by the Parks

          8  Department.

          9                 So you had plenty, I am not blaming

         10  you personally, but the Department has plenty of

         11  notice.  Now, you sent this letter in July of 2005,

         12  and then you say in this letter that you agree with

         13  some of the recommendations and you say, "Our

         14  implementation plan will follow within 90 days of

         15  the release of this report."

         16                 Now that was sent in July, so you had

         17  a lot of warning.  The report was not released until

         18  December and I would anticipate, given the

         19  commitment of this letter, that the report should

         20  have been released by March because the

         21  implementation plan would have been released by

         22  March because the report was released in December.

         23  So, three months from then would be the end of

         24  March.

         25                 Now, we have not seen as far as I can
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          2  tell, and I have asked counsel, we have not seen the

          3  implementation plan.  I take it there is an

          4  implementation plan at this point.  Is that correct?

          5                 MS. BARTHOLD:  The Audit was released

          6  in December.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Right.

          8                 MS. BARTHOLD:  We were asked to reply

          9  to the points they made by 90 days.

         10                 We replied to the seven points within

         11  90 days, and they accepted that reply.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Where is that

         13  reply?

         14                 Do we have that reply?

         15                 MS. BARTHOLD:  We have the reply.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  We do?

         17                 MS. BARTHOLD:  We have a letter that

         18  the Commissioner sent 90 days after the Audit.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Do we have

         20  that?  Do we the Council have that?

         21                 MS. BARTHOLD:  We would be happy to

         22  provide that.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Could we please

         24  get that?

         25                 MS. BARTHOLD:  Sure.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Okay, and when

          3  was that sent?

          4                 MS. BARTHOLD:  March 28th, from

          5  Commissioner Adrian Benepe.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Okay, so within

          7  the three months there was  --  the reply, was that

          8  was it called a  --  is the reply an implementation

          9  plan is that what that is?

         10                 MS. BARTHOLD:  Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  So that is the

         12  implementation plan?

         13                 MS. BARTHOLD:  Yes, the 90 days did

         14  not require that we complete everything in their

         15  Audit.

         16                 The 90 days required that we let them

         17  know how we were going to complete everything in the

         18  Audit.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Yes, there was

         20  a 90 day request in the report but I am not even

         21  reading from the report now, I am reading from your

         22  own Department's letter.  Your own Department's

         23  letter says that in 90 days you would--

         24                 MS. BARTHOLD:  It says within 90 days

         25  of the formal release of the Audit, if I am correct,
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          2  the formal release date of the Audit was at the end

          3  of December.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Correct.

          5                 MS. BARTHOLD:  And we replied within

          6  90 days, and I believe we were compliant, and we

          7  never heard back from the State that we were not.

          8  It was released at the end of December, and we

          9  replied within 90 days, and I think Mr. D'Ercola who

         10  is our audit officer is stating that in his letter

         11  because he is acknowledging that  --  they give us

         12  the audit, they allow us to comment on it and we

         13  did, and he is commenting on it and says,`when you

         14  release it' and I can't comment on how long it took

         15  them to release it,`we will reply'.  That is what we

         16  did.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Well, you are

         18  right but it is not, no, let me make it clear and

         19  let me read it to you so I am not interpreting.

         20                 The report itself says the following,

         21   "within 90 days after final release of this report,

         22  we request that the Commissioner of Parks report to

         23  the state comptroller advising what steps were

         24  taken", were, in past tense, "were taken to

         25  implement the recommendations contained herein, and
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          2  where recommendations were not implemented, the

          3  reasons therefore." That is what the report says,

          4  then your letter in concurring with that, your

          5  letter, that is the one from Mr. D'Ercola says, "our

          6  implementation plan will follow within 90 days of

          7  the release of this report."

          8                 So I take it, we haven't seen that

          9  but I take it's more than just a letter, it's an

         10  implementation plan.

         11                 MS. BARTHOLD:  Correct.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Okay, so we

         13  look forward to seeing that.

         14                 MS. BARTHOLD:  We will provide it to

         15  you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Okay, and

         17  hopefully that will indicate all the different steps

         18  as you verbally indicated that you have taken and

         19  will take.

         20                 MS. BARTHOLD:  Correct.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Okay, well we

         22  can't comment on it until we see it.  So we will

         23  look forward to seeing it.

         24                 MS. BARTHOLD:  I did pretty much

         25  outline them in my testimony, but yes, we will
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          2  provide it for you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Okay, fine.

          4                 Just one other point that I would

          5  like to make before turning it over to others, and

          6  this is kind of in connection with a, sort of, pet

          7  peeve of mine.

          8                 Commissioner Sapolin, some years ago

          9  I became acquainted with the fact that the people in

         10  the disabled community really resent the word

         11  "handicapped", they don't like that reference.

         12                 Is that still true?

         13                 COMMISSIONER SAPOLIN:  Yes.  As a

         14  matter of fact, in 1990 my office was renamed by

         15  Mayor David Dinkins to reflect that.  It was

         16  formally established in 1973 under Executive Order

         17  as the Mayor's Office for the Handicapped.

         18                 In 1990, Mayor Dinkins rewrote the

         19  Order to reflect the term of the day, which I am

         20  sure will change again, but today yes, I think folks

         21  in the community might like to be treated as people

         22  and so you put the person first and yes, the

         23  language is disabled.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Well, I think

         25  the handicapped has a kind of negative implication,
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          2  and it comes from people who begged with a cap and

          3  so on.

          4                 COMMISSIONER SAPOLIN:  Correct,

          5  correct.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  So, I just want

          7  to make sure because it is a concern of mine.

          8                 Incidentally Commissioner, I don't

          9  know if you received my letter some months ago about

         10  the signs in front of City Hall, did you?

         11                 COMMISSIONER SAPOLIN:  Off the top of

         12  my head I do not recall but somebody in my office

         13  may have responded to that.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  As far as I can

         15  recall, I have not seen a response.

         16                 COMMISSIONER SAPOLIN:  Okay.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  And I don't

         18  think, I looked at my counsel, we have not gotten a

         19  response.

         20                 There was a sign, I did not notice

         21  today, that says`handicapped access' right in front

         22  of City Hall, and I would suggest that your office

         23  should get rid of that sign post haste, given the

         24  feelings of people who are afflicted with

         25  disabilities.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER SAPOLIN:  I will take

          3  that under advisement, and I will just add that the

          4  international symbol and the language associated

          5  with it was decided by a Presidential Committee way

          6  back in the 70's, I believe, and that is the

          7  terminology they used, and they have not yet updated

          8  it.

          9                 But here in the City I will explore

         10  more sensitive language for our signage with our

         11  architect and the architects' at the associated

         12  agencies putting up those signs.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Fine, since we

         14  were talking about signs and the Parks Department,

         15  do you know whether that term is used`handicapped'

         16  at all on any of these signs you are going to be

         17  putting up?

         18                 MS. BARTHOLD:  Not new signs.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Not new signs.

         20                 MS. BARTHOLD:  We're using

         21  international symbols as the audit and others have

         22  suggested.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  I don't think

         24  there is any objection  --  I don't know of any

         25  objection to those symbols but I would request that
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          2  you look into whether the term handicapped is used

          3  on any of the signs.

          4                 If they are on old signs, I would ask

          5  the Parks Department, respectfully, to as part of

          6  its implementation plan of these changes, it is not

          7  maybe the most important thing in the world, but it

          8  is significant and is probably easy to do, that that

          9  term be erased from existing signs as quickly as

         10  reasonable.

         11                 COMMISSIONER SAPOLIN:  I will just

         12  add councilman, I am sorry I did not think of this

         13  before, I think what we've done as I recall working

         14  with Robert on a number of signage issues, is we've

         15  gone to a more universal term simply just

         16  saying`accessible route this way', or`accessible

         17  entrance this way.'

         18                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  That's good.

         19                 COMMISSIONER SAPOLIN:  Which is a

         20  more universal term.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  I agree, I

         22  agree, and incidentally, it doesn't need to be

         23  wheelchair accessible.

         24                 COMMISSIONER SAPOLIN:  Correct.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  There are many
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          2  people who have difficulty moving around who don't

          3  necessarily use a wheelchair, so.

          4                 COMMISSIONER SAPOLIN:  Correct.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Simcha Felder I

          6  know had a question, but let me not interrupt.

          7                 Helen, do you have people?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Actually, I do.

          9  What I was just going to say, while we're talking

         10  about City Hall, something that I know the Council

         11  has been talking about over and over again is that

         12  cobblestone leading into City Hall.

         13                 When Margarita was chair, I know they

         14  shaved it down a little but we have had some

         15  accidents, and that is something we need to continue

         16  to look into, is either making a path or just

         17  ridding the cobblestone.

         18                 Giuliani did a good job of making

         19  sure City Hall was no longer for the people of the

         20  City by not making it accessible with those

         21  cobblestones, but what we're going to do is we will

         22  go to Council Member Felder since Council Member

         23  Koppell called on you, and after you, Council Member

         24  Addabbo.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you very
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          2  much.

          3                 I don't mind deferring.

          4                 Thank you very much.

          5                 With the permission of the chairs,

          6  first of all thank you both for having this hearing.

          7    With the permission of the chairs and since

          8  technology is so up- to- date, I don't understand

          9  why we can't get that letter right now.

         10                 We have representatives from the

         11  Parks Department, and we have people on the staff

         12  here, I don't understand why someone can't fax the

         13  letter here, and give us copies.

         14                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  (Inaudible)

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Yes, I would

         16  like it now. If someone has a copy of the response,

         17  maybe you can give it to staff so we all can have

         18  copies of it.  We may have questions on it, and I

         19  appreciate it, instead of waiting until after the

         20  hearing.  Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Thank you,

         22  Council member. That is a good idea.  Good idea.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Second of

         24  all, I didn't understand some of the explanation.

         25  The chairs' raised the question about why people who
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          2  wanted to be of help from the disable community were

          3  not used as a resource.

          4                 Can you clarify that?

          5                 I think you said something about the

          6  knowledge of Building Department issues, other

          7  issues, can you clarify that?

          8                 MS. BARTHOLD:  I wasn't aware of a

          9  group of disabled people who were willing to  --  we

         10  didn't solicit.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  All right.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I know we have

         13  strong feelings, and everybody will have an

         14  opportunity to testify, and we are going to ask when

         15  this panel is over for representatives of the Parks

         16  Department to stay.

         17                 We will hear everyone's testimony,

         18  okay?

         19                 Sorry, Simcha.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Thank you, no

         21  problem.

         22                 So I would just say, the only reason

         23  I am saying that is that during your testimony,

         24  besides watching and listening to whatever you had

         25  to say, and watching you reaction, I was watching
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          2  the reaction in the room, and it seems to me that

          3  you had, without any exaggeration, automatically

          4  about ten volunteers.

          5                 In my office I think as well as my

          6  colleagues when you get calls, if I get three calls

          7  about a problem, there are probably 3,000 people in

          8  my district that are upset.  If there are ten people

          9  here from this community that are willing to help, I

         10  would be willing to bet that there are at least 100

         11  or more that are willing and interested to help.

         12                 So I would say, I don't know what the

         13  experience has been in the past, but the next time

         14  we have a hearing I would hope that by that point

         15  you will have a lot of volunteers that are

         16  interested, and that you will be taking advantage

         17  of.

         18                 MS. BARTHOLD:  If I could just back

         19  up, I did say that we have thousands of properties,

         20  and we answered an audit with an implementation plan

         21  where we said we would do a transition plan by 2007,

         22  which had to show the way we would bring every one

         23  of our properties into compliance.

         24                 As a manager, I and others needed to

         25  come up with a way to do that, and I said before I
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          2  think there are many ways that volunteers, both

          3  abled and disabled could assist us.  But this was a

          4  task that had to be done in a certain number of

          5  months, and this is the way it was done.

          6                 So, I also mentioned that we are

          7  working now on coming up with a group from the

          8  accessibility community who will advise us.

          9                 So I agree, but when you have to

         10  inspect according to Building Code, I said the Park

         11  supervisors are out there anyway.  We had a

         12  deadline, so that is what we wanted to do.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Assistant

         14  Commissioner, I find it  --  I don't know you, and I

         15  give everyone the benefit of the doubt until I

         16  decide to hate them, and I don't dislike you in any

         17  way.  But I find it a little disturbing that you're

         18  being so defensive about the issue.  I didn't

         19  mention a word about criticizing the way you

         20  implemented or responded to your 90-day plan.

         21                 I am making an observation, and I

         22  think it is a decent one.  If you want to have a

         23  debate about it, we can debate.

         24                 My observation is forgetting about

         25  the Audit, forgetting about the plan, I don't tell
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          2  anyone how to manage their departments or anything

          3  else.  I barely know what to do about my own work,

          4  okay?  But at the same time, there is no question in

          5  my mind that the volunteers that are here today, and

          6  those that they represent, have existed long before

          7  the audit ever came about, and the issue about

          8  taking this resource has nothing to do with the

          9  audit.  It is about taking the opportunity I have

         10  people who are committed, the most dedicated people,

         11  and who want to put in the time, and taking

         12  advantage of them.  That is all, and if I was you, I

         13  would say whatever happened in the past, happened in

         14  the past, you are absolutely right, and the next

         15  time I come to this meeting I am going to have a

         16  list for you, Councilman Felder, or the Chairs, of

         17  1,000 people who are volunteers, who want to check

         18  up to make sure our parks are the way they should

         19  be.  That's all.

         20                 MS. BARTHOLD:  Let me just say

         21  without getting defensive.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Yes.

         23                 MS. BARTHOLD: We have 3,000

         24  volunteers in the Parks Department, there are

         25  disabled volunteers. We have, on our website we have
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          2  a way to become a volunteer. I work very closely,

          3  have just signed up someone who is teaching music at

          4  one of our rec centers. Please sign up. It's on the

          5  website. You'll have my business card. Yes, come

          6  help us out. Absolutely.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I'm more

          8  stubborn than you are, I promise. And I don't want

          9  to waste any more time. But if you don't get it,

         10  you're not going to get it, okay?

         11                 The issue is that you know what we're

         12  talking about. We're not talking about that signing

         13  up on some website. We're talking about a concerted

         14  effort to use these people and the resources and the

         15  heart that they have and the dedication they have to

         16  a specific purpose. If you want to make a special

         17  effort, to do that, it will be to the Department's

         18  gain.

         19                 I just have one last question,

         20  please.

         21                 The money that goes into

         22  implementing, you know, a compliance with federal

         23  law, okay? For example, take a regular playground.

         24  I'm not familiar at all. A regular playground that

         25  to build costs a million dollars. In order to make
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          2  it compliant, what is the extra cost, I mean, I'm

          3  sure there is, to make sure that a playground is

          4  compliant with federal law.

          5                 If you build a playground from

          6  scratch, for example, in our community there are a

          7  number of playgrounds that they're redoing from

          8  scratch; what is the cost to make that compliant?

          9  And I just dare say that this is not only about the

         10  disabled community. If my father is 93, thank God.

         11  He's not well, but he's 93, and my mother is 87, a

         12  lot of the things that are done to be compliant with

         13  ADA are extraordinarily helpful for seniors as well,

         14  because if they're things that need steps, and

         15  elderly people do better on a ramp, that certainly

         16  helps. But I want to know the cost.

         17                 MS. BARTHOLD: I mean, the cost varies

         18  for playground. You know, because you all generously

         19  fund them.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Right. But

         21  what's the percentage?

         22                 M. BARTHOLD: At this point --

         23                 MS. BARTHOLD: Every playground we're

         24  doing right now is accessible.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I'll ask you
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          2  the question one more time.

          3                 You'll never forget me, I promise. I

          4  know.

          5                 I just want to know what the

          6  percentage, what the premium is now that we have to

          7  do this, to abide by federal law, approximately?

          8  Does it cost 20 percent more to build a playground?

          9  Is it the same price? I don't know. What does it

         10  cost to put in a playground? For example, I know a

         11  swing, a simple thing like a swing for a disabled

         12  child can run as high as $25,000, which is something

         13  bizarre, but I am just  --  does your architect have

         14  an idea?

         15                 MR. CALISE:  A rough rule of thumb is

         16  about a million and a half for an acre playground.

         17  The accessible components within the playground

         18  include many things, including a ground level

         19  accessible route.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Right, so I

         21  am asking you what the premium --

         22                 MR. CALISE:  Grants for a systems or

         23  ramps, an accessible impact attenuating rubber

         24  safety surfacing, which is very expensive.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  All right,
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          2  excuse me, Sir. I am not really trying to be tricky.

          3                 MS. BARTHOLD:  We don't have the

          4  answer to that but we will get it for you.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Excellent.

          6                 MS. BARTHOLD:  If you are looking for

          7  a percentage,  we cannot give that.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  I just want

          9  to know approximately how much more it costs.

         10                 MS. BARTHOLD:  If we can come up with

         11  it, we will gladly get that for you.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  That's all,

         13  thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

         15                 Council Member Addabbo.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Thank you,

         17  Madam Chair.

         18                 I want to thank both the chairs and

         19  their staff for having this hearing today, and the

         20  work that's been put into it.

         21                 To the Department of Parks, thank you

         22  very much for being here and for the efforts you've

         23  made toward the accessibility issue.

         24                 In your testimony I noticed you had

         25  mentioned in the first paragraph the 14 miles of
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          2  beaches, which I am very happy to hear you

          3  acknowledge the beaches are Parks property. But

          4  nowhere in the testimony do I see boardwalks.  I am

          5  happy to say that myself and my borough

          6  commissioner, Dottie Lewindowsky, we are looking at

          7  boardwalk accessibility, and even beach

          8  accessibility.

          9                 Can you maybe enlighten us or expand

         10  on what possibly could be done with the

         11  accessibility of boardwalks?

         12                 MS. BARTHOLD:  Well since I had a

         13  former life in capital projects, I will just briefly

         14  comment that it  -- actually the challenge goes

         15  beyond boardwalks because ideally we should be

         16  offering disabled folks a chance to go on the beach,

         17  and it's easier to make a boardwalk accessible

         18  because you can ramp it when you are building steps.

         19    So when we are doing renovations to boardwalks, we

         20  are attempting to add a ramp at staircases that is

         21  of an acceptable slope so that folks can get on the

         22  boardwalk.

         23                 In some projects, and we're just

         24  going to start again because we just got a letter

         25  from a constituent suggesting this, we have
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          2  purchased wheelchairs that can go onto the sand. It

          3  is not the ideal solution, but it is a way for a

          4  disabled person to experience the sand.

          5                 We did try last year to create some

          6  paths perpendicular to the boardwalk at Coney Island

          7  that would allow a disabled person to go off the

          8  boardwalk a certain distance onto the sand, and we

          9  got cut off by the New York State Department of

         10  Environmental Conservation because there is a

         11  restriction to building on the waterside of the

         12  boardwalk because of the Coastal Storm- something

         13  Act of something- something, so this is something

         14  that is actually a big concern because it is one

         15  thing to get to the boardwalk, it's another thing to

         16  get to the beach.

         17                 So yes will we do a boardwalk?  We

         18  are trying to ramp it.  We have not come up with a

         19  great solution to getting them onto the sand.  There

         20  are some temporary materials that you can roll out.

         21  We have taken a look at some of them, and it is of

         22  interest to us, and we want to get people to our

         23  beaches because they are very nice, especially

         24  Rockaway.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  That they
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          2  are, but I look forward to working with you on the

          3  boardwalk and the beach accessibility.  Part of my

          4  district in Rockaway is a federal park, Reese Park,

          5  and there is a concrete pathway going perpendicular,

          6  like you said, from the boardwalk there right out to

          7  the sand, and a number of my residents had said,`why

          8  can't we do this on the city beaches.'  That is

          9  something I would like to entertain, and look at in

         10  the future capital projects.

         11                 So, I look forward to working with

         12  the Parks on that issue for accessibility, not only

         13  to our beaches, but also to the boardwalk as well.

         14                 Thank you very much.

         15                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

         17                 How, if you know, how do you make a

         18  beach wheelchair accessible?  What does that entail?

         19                 MR. BARTHOLD:  Well I mean, there are

         20  beaches that have something perpendicular to the

         21  boardwalk that is either cement or some sort of a

         22  temporary material that can hold the weight of a

         23  wheelchair that would allow someone to go from the

         24  boardwalk out.  It's a little contrary to sand, but

         25  it's done.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  All right, thank

          3  you.

          4                 Council Member Gerson.

          5                 Oh, and we've been joined by Council

          6  Member James from Brooklyn.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Thank you

          8  very much Madam Chair, Mr. Chair, for this very,

          9  very important hearing.

         10                 I just want to ask you about two

         11  areas.  It is good to always see folks from our

         12  Parks Department, our department of fun.

         13                 First benches, and this is important

         14  to a range of individuals from the accessibility

         15  community, the senior community.  Are there

         16  standards for new benches, for replacement benches

         17  that address or that assure that we have, kind of,

         18  the state- of- the- art type of benches or at least

         19  the diversity of benches which include some which

         20  can accommodate folks with a range of

         21  muscular/skeletal issues, arthritic issues, other

         22  issues for which the type of seat, the angles, the

         23  material, you know the type of seat has a direct

         24  bearing, not only on comfort but on accessibility to

         25  the bench?  Is that something you have considered,
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          2  are considering?

          3                 Where do we stand on benches?

          4                 COMMISSIONER SAPOLIN:  The ADA/ADA

          5  guidelines published in July of 2004 address that

          6  very generally with standards for the height of the

          7  front edge of the bench seat, being 17 to 19 inches

          8  above the ground, an armrest and a back the entire

          9  length of the bench.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  In your

         11  opinion, you noted yourself that those are general

         12  guidelines, are they sufficient guidelines or should

         13  we be looking to see if we, as a city, should

         14  enhance those guidelines to provide even greater

         15  access and comfort to certain folks?

         16                 COMMISSIONER SAPOLIN:  The City has

         17  several standard bench types that we have developed

         18  over the years.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  But have you

         20  developed them specifically with this goal in mind

         21  of accommodating comfort and accessibility to the

         22  extant possible and feasible to persons, again, with

         23  a range of issues for which the type of seating is a

         24  significant factor?

         25                 MS. BARTHOLD:  We have specifications
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          2  which you may or may not be familiar with that

          3  regularly are reviewed, and can be changed.

          4                 We have changed our benches through

          5  the years, and in Parks we do try to place a

          6  diversity of benches; backs, no backs.

          7                 But, you bring up an interesting

          8  point.  We have a research group.  I am sure they

          9  can look into  --  as this progresses, we're trying

         10  to progress as well.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Sure.

         12                 MS. BARTHOLD:  I don't see why we

         13  couldn't look into it.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Sure, okay I

         15  would be very interested in that happening, and I am

         16  sure the Committee along with myself would be

         17  interested in feedback from your research group.  I

         18  ask this as a sincere question.  I don't know if

         19  there is anything more to be done, but I would like

         20  us to make the effort to see if there is anything

         21  more to be done, especially as the state of

         22  ergonomics and all sorts of things.

         23                 In the office place people pay a lot

         24  more attention now than they did a few years ago to

         25  the type of seating.  I just want to make sure we're
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          2  paying that similar attention to seating in parks.

          3                 MS. BARTHOLD:  Well, I don't know if

          4  we will be putting in ergonomic office chairs with

          5  cushioning but  -- .

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Well, maybe

          7  ergonomic park benches, maybe there are such things.

          8    I don't know.

          9                 MS. BARTHOLD:  They have been

         10  designed through the years. It's actually quite

         11  interesting.  If you do look, they have progressed

         12  through the years to have more comfortable seats,

         13  and related or unrelated, we are starting to put in

         14  exercise units that are more conducive to senior

         15  citizens.  So, certainly as the population changes

         16  and the needs change, we do try to adapt.

         17                 So, happy to bring it back to them

         18  and see if there are other types of seating, other

         19  than just for  --  if there is other disabilities we

         20  should be looking towards when we design seating.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Okay and I

         22  really would appreciate it if you would let me know

         23  what they say when you bring it back to them, and I

         24  would also, just finally on this point, suggest that

         25  this may be a key area where the input of folks,
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          2  volunteers, and folks with experience on  these

          3  issues could be especially welcome, and I would urge

          4  that we follow up with that.

          5                 The second area I want to ask you

          6  about by way of an example, and also because it is

          7  important in and of itself, as a significant park

          8  not only to my community, but our entire city, is

          9  the renovation of Washington Square Park.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  I will be

         11  right there.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Council

         13  Member Brewer just has powers.  I have got to be

         14  less obvious I guess.

         15                 In the handout which you gave us, the

         16  Audit Implementation Plan, we referred to written

         17  guidelines for major alteration work that specify

         18  the ADA accessibility component.             Have

         19  those guidelines been prepared for Washington Square

         20  Park yet?

         21                 MS. BARTHOLD:  Those are general

         22  guidelines related to all projects.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Oh I see,

         24  okay because the way it's worded  --  when they say

         25  specify ADA accessibility components, I read the
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          2  word specify to be project specific, but you're

          3  saying that these refer to general guidelines.

          4  There are no specific ADA accessible guidelines for

          5  each major capital project?

          6                 When you wanted to take a major

          7  capital project, of which clearly the proposal for

          8  Washington Square Park is one, do you develop a

          9  document that specifies the ADA accessibility

         10  component as relates to that capital project?

         11                 MS. BARTHOLD:  Not that I know of.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Oh okay, so

         13  this reference is just to a general citywide

         14  document with which all projects must comport?

         15                 MS. BARTHOLD:  Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Okay, are you

         17  aware of specific changes that are going to be made

         18  in the new Washington Square Park design to

         19  accommodate or improve accessibility to persons with

         20  accessibility, and for the moment, we could exclude

         21  the fountain area because I know that is a source of

         22    --  I know that is the one part the Park that is a

         23  source of litigation, and I know that's been a

         24  source of discussion.  So, now I am being pressing

         25  and preempting, but the other components of the Park
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          2  which are not subject to litigation, and are as far

          3  as I understand ready to go, can anyone identify

          4  what changes are going to be made to make the park

          5  and the park playgrounds more accessible, if any?

          6                 MS. BARTHOLD:  Unfortunately because

          7  Washington Square Park in involved in litigation, I

          8  can't comment on that.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Okay, but

         10  that's what I was trying to avoid you having to go

         11  through the trouble of saying that because that's

         12  not correct.

         13                 The only part of the Park that is

         14  involved in litigation is the fountain and the

         15  fountain plaza.  There are other components of the

         16  park; the northwest sector, the mounds sector, the

         17  chess area sector, they children's playground, the

         18  pre- teen playground, none of which is involved with

         19  the current appeal pending at the appellate

         20  division, so could you comment with respect to those

         21  sectors that are not involved in the litigation?

         22                 MS. BARTHOLD:  No, I can't.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Has not the

         24  Parks Department recently decided that in this

         25  coming November they will go out, they will put out
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          2  to bid the northwest sector of Washington Square

          3  Park?

          4                 Isn't that a decision that the Parks

          5  Department recently made?

          6                 MS. BARTHOLD:  Let me just, just so

          7  you don't push me to get defensive.

          8                 I cannot comment on Washington Square

          9  Park.  We would be happy to steer you elsewhere, but

         10  at this hearing I can't  --  I am not able to

         11  comment on the Park.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Well, can you

         13  answer that one question yes or no?

         14                 Has the Parks Department decided to

         15  put out in this coming November a part of the park

         16  for bid?

         17                 MS. BARTHOLD:  I cannot answer that

         18  question.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Okay, Madam

         20  Chair, I'll continue this later but I just want to

         21  note for the record that this lack of responsiveness

         22  is totally unacceptable and disrespectful of the

         23  Council.  It's beyond question that there is only

         24  one part of the Park that is subject to the current

         25  litigation.
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          2                 My questions relate to other sectors

          3  of the Park, for which we have on good authority the

          4  Parks Department has recently decided to go for  --

          5  to go to a bidding process for a part of the Park

          6  that is not the subject of the litigation, and I

          7  would respectfully request the Parks Department to

          8  follow up to this hearing in providing these answers

          9  to the questions I have raised, and Madam Chair, if

         10  we do not receive those answers, I would urge the

         11  Committee to consider a hearing on Washington Square

         12  Park in and of itself, and the possibility of

         13  subpoenaing the information from the Parks

         14  Department.

         15                 Thank you very much, and I do hope we

         16  will be able to return to a point where we can work

         17  cooperatively on this.  I have not, and am not, a

         18  party to the litigation and I understand as an

         19  attorney, again, why you would not want to answer

         20  with respect to the litigation issues, but I do

         21  request the information that is not covered by the

         22  litigation.

         23                 Thank you very much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

         25                 Council Member Brewer.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  I love

          3  teasing Alan Gerson.  I love Alan Gerson.

          4                 I have a couple of questions.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  It's mutual

          6  Council Member Brewer.

          7                      COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Yes, I

          8  know.

          9                 First of all, I want to tell you that

         10  Playground 70 is wonderful, as an example, and

         11  certainly when we renovate the 59th Street

         12  Recreation Center, ADA is just part of the plan. So,

         13  I think maybe an answer to Alan's question is it is

         14  mandated to be ADA, and it will be ADA at that other

         15  park.

         16                 My question is in terms of, sort of,

         17  low hanging fruit, you indicated that you have  --

         18  do you have all this GIS now on a data system?  Is

         19  that where it is?

         20                 In other words, all the geographic

         21  information system that you have gathered, is it in

         22  one place in terms of the Parks?

         23                 MS. BARTHOLD:  It's almost there.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay, the

         25  reason I was saying is to pick up on what Council

                                                            63

          1  PARKS AND RECREATION AND MENTAL HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2  Member Felder and Alan Gerson and others have said,

          3  one way to handle it would be to work with the

          4  community.

          5                 We happen to know almost everybody in

          6  this room today, as you may, and they are very

          7  special, and they are experts in helping and making

          8  city policy work.

          9                 So, it might be a suggestion to take

         10  the GIS material, put it up on a liquid board, and

         11  go over it with folks, and you would be able to move

         12  some of this transitional plan much more quickly.

         13  Example, what would be some of the low- hanging

         14  fruit suggestions that could make the parks

         15  accessible?

         16                 Obviously some involve capital

         17  dollars, but do you have some ideas now in terms of

         18  what some of the ways in which the parks could be

         19  made accessible that don't cost a lot of money?  Is

         20  that something that has come up as a result of your

         21  work?

         22                 MS. BARTHOLD:  Well, I mean we are

         23  deficient in signage, and we pulled the signage out

         24  from the data immediately, and we are starting to

         25  improve signage so that accessible entrances will be
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          2  marked.

          3                 Where we have been able to, we have

          4  been trying to make in- house improvements to

          5  facilities to make them more accessible.  We have

          6  done some improvements to athletic fields to

          7  accommodate wheelchair sports.  We do have a very

          8  close relationship with a lot of disable athletes,

          9  and we're trying to make in- house improvements to

         10  make facilities usable by them, and others.  We're

         11  holding tournaments.  We do a lot of activities with

         12  the disabled community, both children and adults.

         13                 Our website, we have been working on

         14  our website since before the Audit was published.

         15  It's not only providing information on the website,

         16  it's making the website readable and usable by the

         17  disabled community.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  I am familiar

         19  with that.

         20                 MS. BARTHOLD:  Okay, and we have used

         21  folks in the disabled community.  We've used

         22  Commissioner Sapolin's office to test it out.  We

         23  have started to label facilities that we know of.

         24  Our pools are labeled on the web to show if they're

         25  accessible or not.  We have just started providing
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          2  links on our website to other groups that provide

          3  programming, so we are aware of low- hanging fruit.

          4  I think we've made some strides.  We are handling

          5  complaints.  They do pretty much come to one place.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  When do you

          7  think the GIS will be more or less complete, in

          8  terms of what you've been able to do with the

          9  interns sending them out et cetera?

         10                 MS. BARTHOLD:  It's not fair of me to

         11  comment on it.  I am happy to get back to you.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay so in

         13  other words, when that is done that would be an

         14  example, I don't want to belabor the point but to

         15  work with the community, perhaps invite some of us

         16  who care as you do deeply about this issue, and just

         17  sit down at a round table discussion and figure out

         18  mutually what you can do in different stages.

         19                 MS. BARTHOLD:  Yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  I think

         21  because this particular community I have to say, has

         22  been participating in policy for the last 30 years

         23  that I have been working with them, and they will

         24  make it happen much more easily.

         25                 MS. BARTHOLD:  Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  So I guess if

          3  I could think of one thing to come out of this

          4  hearing would be to take the data, work with the

          5  community, obviously some of your colleagues in city

          6  government, and I just think we could then have a

          7  capital plan that Reso. A or whatever that makes

          8  sense for next year, and we could really move fast

          9  on trying to accomplish because even just making

         10  ramps, something that is easier to get down, the

         11  beach project, send the community to Albany to

         12  change whatever the State Department Environment

         13  Conservation is doing, it'll be done much faster

         14  than the Mayor's Office.  Just because that's how

         15  great this community is.  I feel very strongly about

         16  this community in particular.

         17                 MS. BARTHOLD:  We do as well, and I

         18  don't want to get defensive with a second council

         19  member but  -- .

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  No you're not

         21  but I am just saying I think it could work to your

         22  benefit.

         23                 MS. BARTHOLD:  Since I started  --  a

         24  third, I am sorry.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  I am just
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          2  saying it could work to your benefit.

          3                 MS. BARTHOLD:  Let me just say that

          4  through the disabilities network we have worked with

          5  the community, okay?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay.

          7                 MS. BARTHOLD:  Do we have an intimate

          8  group of people that have helped us out?  No.  Did I

          9  say we would like to do that?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  No, I

         11  understand that.

         12                 MS. BARTHOLD:  But opening up every

         13  issue to every person, it takes some thought okay.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  No, I

         15  understand that.

         16                 MS. BARTHOLD:  So, we presented

         17  projects through the disabilities network.  He has

         18  been an avenue for us, Alexander.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay.

         20                 MS. BARTHOLD:  So, I just don't want

         21  it to seem like we're not respecting, yes there's a

         22  group of people in this room.  I spent hours at

         23  Yankee Stadium showing the Plan to 30 people from a

         24  variety.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  No, I
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          2  understand that.

          3                 MS. BARTHOLD:  So yes, let's

          4  continue.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  I think it

          6  would just save you time.

          7                 MS. BARTHOLD:  Absolutely.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Matthew, did

          9  you want to say something?

         10                 COMMISSIONER SAPOLIN:  I just wanted

         11  to add, yes because Nancy hadn't elaborated on the

         12  participation.  They have engaged the community on

         13  whether it's the Highline Project or the Yankee

         14  Stadium, Shea Stadium Projects.

         15                 What Nancy stated in her testimony

         16  before, and I think this is the point, and I just

         17  want to make this clear and hopefully folks will get

         18  this.

         19                 They've been working with the

         20  community sort of in a less systematic way.  As

         21  Nancy described before in her testimony, going

         22  forward there will be an effort, and I have already

         23  several months ago sent over several suggestions to

         24  formalize a working task group who will be consulted

         25  within a more systematic way.
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          2                 So to the Parks Department's credit,

          3  we have helped them work with Alexander Wood and

          4  some of these folks here have probably participated

          5  in conversations about the Highline or the stadiums.

          6                 So again, it's been somewhat

          7  unsystematic on some of the projects, very

          8  systematic on the stadiums.  I mean you all can come

          9  up to Yankee stadium I think on November 17th, I

         10  believe that is the date, they'll be having a

         11  meeting.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay, I

         13  appreciate that.

         14                 I guess the point is that if when you

         15  get the data in particular, I think it will be very

         16  exciting to share it, and then figure out ways that

         17  we can all take a portion of it, and try to realize

         18  the capital projects that you need.

         19                 Thank you very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

         21                 I think we're all talking the same

         22  language but I don't know if we're all hearing the

         23  same thing.  I don't know that any of us are saying

         24  it's not being done.  I think what we're saying is

         25  we can continue to work together, and include more
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          2  people so that we have even more of a win- win

          3  situation.

          4                 After Council Member Koppell, we're

          5  going to call the next panel, and I would ask people

          6  from the Parks Department and Administration to say

          7  so we can hear the testimony of what everyone has to

          8  say.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Thank you.

         11                 First of all, I want to thank, and

         12  you should thank Council Member Felder because by

         13  getting this  --  which frankly you should have

         14  given to us, you've made it much clearer to me

         15  anyway that you actually do have an implementation

         16  plan. Because this is not just a letter, it is plan

         17  with specific objectives and specific dates and

         18  guidelines.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  I only did it

         20  to help you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  You did help

         22  them, you did in fact.

         23                 They should thank you, I thank you.

         24                 MS. BARTHOLD:  Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  One thing by
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          2  the way that the Plan just does call to mind, or

          3  cause me to ask, the ACD which I guess means, I

          4  don't know what the A stands for, but CD probably

          5  means`completion date.'   Maybe that's approximate

          6  completion date, I am not sure.  It says January 1,

          7  2007 on the transition plan, and you mentioned 2007,

          8  do you have a  -- January is pretty close.

          9                 MS. BARTHOLD:  That's when we're

         10  going to have a draft, we hope.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  A draft, so I

         12  think it would be useful for us to get copies, so I

         13  would make a formal request that we  --  that the

         14  Committee get, both Committee's get copies of your

         15  transitional plan, so we could perhaps provide

         16  comment.

         17                 MS. BARTHOLD:  I'll pass that along.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Thank you.

         19                 The other thing is, and I was a

         20  little disturbed about your answer to Councilman

         21  Gerson because he was asking about specific ADA

         22  elements to the plan, and there seems to be a little

         23  bit of disconnect between the recommendations of the

         24  comptroller and the way you're going to implement

         25  them.  I think it is kind of important to focus on
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          2  this.

          3                 The Comptroller recommended,`Ensure

          4  that ADA accessibility is incorporated in all new

          5  and major alteration projects.  Scope documents

          6  should always specify the element that must be ADA

          7  accessible.'  Now, you're response to that point

          8  too, is number one you said you agreed, and then you

          9  say,`working with our capital projects as Parks will

         10  incorporate ADA guidelines into all construction

         11  projects, including those undertaken by

         12  concessionaires.'

         13                 Then when Alan Gerson asked you, you

         14  said,`well, they are general guidelines.'  But I

         15  think that the Comptroller was recommending

         16  something more than just incorporating general

         17  guidelines.  He was recommending specifying the

         18  elements that must be ADA accessible, so that the

         19  scope should identify the water fountains will be

         20  ADA accessible, the site will be ADA accessible,

         21  whatever else is involved in the particular

         22  facility. I think your plan here, your

         23  Implementation Plan is somewhat vague, and your

         24  answer was also, unfortunately in my mind, not

         25  adequate.
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          2                 If your answer would be what the

          3  Comptroller recommended, I would be more happy, or

          4  more satisfied.

          5                 MS. BARTHOLD:  Okay, we want to make

          6  you more happy.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Okay, so let's

          8  change that then.

          9                 MS. BARTHOLD:  His question, as I

         10  remember it, was,`is there one document per

         11  construction project that outlines the ADA plan for

         12  the project.'

         13                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  No, I just

         14  think that every project draft, when you put

         15  together you Plan which should say,`the following

         16  ADA elements are included, or is following

         17  facilities or portions are made accessible pursuant

         18  to the ADA.'

         19                 MS. BARTHOLD:  Well, design documents

         20  are massive, and I'm confident that every design

         21  package does indicate that. Does it indicate it in

         22  one place, I don't know, I am not a designer but

         23  every project has a scope of work, and yes,

         24  accessible elements are listed in the scope of work.

         25    They are distinguished on a design as accessible,
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          2  accessible water fountains, and so yes, they are

          3  there.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Good.

          5                 MS. BARTHOLD:  If you'd like someone

          6  to show

          7  you a design, and point them out, we don't do a

          8  summary document of  --  we're not designing an

          9  accessible  --  we're designing a park for all

         10  people of which there are accessible elements, and

         11  I'm sure you've all because you generously fund

         12  them, have reviewed those huge packages of  --  and

         13  there are specifications on it and if there's an

         14  accessible swing being used, there's a specification

         15  for that that says `accessible swing.'  It's great

         16  to have everything in one place, but it's definitely

         17  there.

         18                 I thought you asked if there was a

         19  summary document for each project, which says what's

         20  going to be done on accessibility.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Okay, well the

         22  answer I am sure is more satisfactory  --  I don't

         23  want to speak for Councilman Gerson, but I think--

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  I think we're

         25  up to --.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Yes, yes, so

          3  thank you for that, and I assume then with respect,

          4  I don't want to get involved in the dispute over

          5  Washington Square Park, but I assume that  --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Well, why

          7  not?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  --  But what I

          9  assume though is that as a general matter, leaving

         10  aside that for the moment, that we as council

         11  members where there is a project relevant,

         12  particularly in our district, can review plans with

         13  that in mind.

         14                 MS. BARTHOLD:  Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Thank you.

         16                 MS. BARTHOLD:  Absolutely.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Just Madam

         18  Chair, I just want to add my appreciation, no, no,

         19  no, to your clarification of the response.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Before you

         22  leave, Council Member James has a question.

         23                 But Sir, if you could say your name

         24  and title for the record, just into the microphone

         25  please.
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          2                 MR. RUDESILL:  I am Charlie Rudesill.

          3  I am Deputy Director of Landscape Architecture.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Maybe I should

          6  ask my question to Charlie because I don't want to

          7  make the Commissioner defensive or get her mad.

          8  It's not really a question, it's really a comment.

          9                 I see the Bronx, I see Staten Island,

         10  I see Queens, I looked through the documents, and I

         11  represent Brooklyn. Can you give me an update on

         12  where we stand with regards to wheelchair

         13  accessibility in the Borough of Brooklyn,

         14  particularly I hate to be very parochial, Fort

         15  Greene Park?

         16                 MR. RUDESILL:  I would have to look

         17  into that.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Okay, if you

         19  could do that, that would be greatly appreciated.

         20                 We are renovating four playgrounds

         21  and one park in my district, and I just need to know

         22  where we are with the wheelchair accessibility in

         23  all those playgrounds that we are renovating.

         24                 MS. BARTHOLD:  Just a general

         25  statement.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Yes.

          3                 MS. BARTHOLD:  Everything that's

          4  renovated now is made wheelchair accessible.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Okay.

          6                 MS. BARTHOLD:  So when we cite that

          7  there's a playground for all children, it may have

          8  more specialized features as we did with

          9  Bloomingdale Park that are more adventurous for

         10  wheelchairs, and that's an option but we are limited

         11  by budgets.

         12                 So, there's the difference between

         13  safety surface that's ramped, and a play unit that

         14  you can get on and a play unit that you can put a

         15  wheelchair on and rock.  We all want that.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Right.

         17                 MS. BARTHOLD:  But it just costs more

         18  money so those playgrounds will be wheelchair

         19  accessible.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  So I guess

         21  what you're saying is, if you want additional

         22  features, you would have to pay for it.  Would that

         23  be fair to say?

         24                 MS. BARTHOLD:  Correct, or they would

         25  have to fit in within the budget.  I mean if you
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          2  fund a million dollars, and we could be a $500,000

          3  play unit with one of those things, yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:   Okay, okay.

          5  Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

          7  much. We're going to call our next panel.

          8                 Sergeant, if you can pull the table

          9  out a little for us.

         10                 The next panel is Anne Emerman and

         11  Margie Rubin.

         12                 Anne, as you come to the mic, let me

         13  thank you for last  --  earlier this year, bringing

         14  this to my attention so that we could have this

         15  hearing.  Thank you.

         16                 What usually happens is the

         17  commissioner's leave, but they have their

         18  governmental affairs and other people who take all

         19  the notes and bring it back to them, so.

         20                 As soon as you are ready, you can get

         21  started.

         22                 MS. RUBIN:  My name is Margie Rubin.

         23  I am the founder of Mobility Impaired Artists at

         24  Westbeth.  I am also a member of the Disability

         25  Network of New York City, but I am primarily the
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          2  Parks Accessibility Access Person for Disabled in

          3  Action.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Can you just

          5  pull the mic a little closer?

          6                 MS. RUBIN:  Sure.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I am a little

          8  hard of hearing.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 MS. RUBIN:  What is a park?

         11                 As defined by the Department of Parks

         12  and Recreation, in quotation, written in stone at

         13  City Hall Park; "It must not be forgotten that the

         14  Park is still the refuge of the people, the cradle

         15  of liberty."  Webster's dictionary defines liberty

         16  as freedom from physical restraint.

         17                 The reason we are here today is that

         18  Parks does not have a record of freedom from

         19  physical restraint for people with disabilities in

         20  the facilities it oversees.  Parks practices

         21  something akin to  plantation politics.  People with

         22  disabilities are welcome to come to parks and

         23  recreational facilities, but not just to use them in

         24  the same manner as people who are not currently in

         25  wheelchairs.
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          2                 Parks seems to have failed to respond

          3  adequately to the Civil Rights Law of 1964, the

          4  Rehab Act of`73, the ADA in`92, the ADA

          5  Architectural Guidelines of 1994, which became firm

          6  in 2002.  This is 40 years of Parks looking the

          7  other way rather than removing physical barriers for

          8  people with disabilities in its facilities as a

          9  matter of course.

         10                 What I don't understand is why Parks

         11  does not reach out to people with disabilities

         12  living in the community board district of a park, a

         13  playground or work with qualified disability access

         14  advocates.  They know who we are, rather than always

         15  reporting they have made contact with the United

         16  Spinal Association, a Queens- based paid consultant

         17  of the city, or going to the Mayor's Office for

         18  People with Disabilities because the operative words

         19  there are Mayor's Office.

         20                 Parks totally disregarded DIA and

         21  other advocate suggestions, requests and needs at

         22  Washington Square.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Mm-hmm.

         24                 MS. RUBIN:  Why?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Could you
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          2  repeat that?

          3                 MS. RUBIN:  Why were the renovation

          4  plans sent out for bid this spring without any

          5  reference to how the Americans with Disability Act

          6  would be met?

          7                 Why is there no information as simple

          8  as a photograph of a latch that will be used for

          9  openings along the fence, or how the Parks intends

         10  to ramp the entertainment center of the Fountain to

         11  why no plans have been made to make the comfort

         12  stations wheelchair accessible?

         13                 Why does Parks insist on using one-

         14  step curbing to grass, dog runs, et cetera,

         15  preventing wheelchair users from, for instance,

         16  joining in a family picnic on a lawn, or attending a

         17  concert like at Union Square, where a brand new

         18  fence was put in with gates, and they failed to

         19  remove the curbing at the gates so there is no

         20  access anywhere in Union Square off of the

         21  sidewalks? This is discrimination through isolating

         22  the person with a disability out of full use of the

         23  park.

         24                 Now to Vesuvio Playground which has

         25  been leveled save a few trees, and the comfort
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          2  station.  Parks says it will cost a million dollars

          3  to make it compliant because of the 25 inch wide

          4  doors.  I'm not a construction person, but it seems

          5  to me a mason could come in and remove 11 inches of

          6  bricks, reframe the doorway at the required 36

          7  inches, allowing the modification of the existing

          8  bathrooms for people with disabilities.

          9                 Here's the Parks logic as I see it.

         10  In order to make the comfort station compliant, the

         11  building first must be torn down, the plumbing

         12  ripped up, and then the bathrooms can be made

         13  compliant for a million dollars as opposed to just

         14  maybe $100,000 or less.

         15                 The Department of Justice requires,

         16  it doesn't say you may or may not do it, but

         17  requires that one of the first things that must be

         18  done during Vesuvio's type of renovation is to make

         19  the comfort station ADA compliant, and when you have

         20  a new swimming pool and accessible play equipment,

         21  shouldn't you have accessible bathrooms available?

         22                 The interesting thing, and I will go

         23  back to Washington Square, nowhere in the first

         24  phase of that plan is there any attempt to make the

         25  bathrooms accessible.  They are not accessible.

                                                            83

          1  PARKS AND RECREATION AND MENTAL HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2  When I filed a complain with the Parks Department

          3  about no bathroom being available at Vesuvio, they

          4  said `well, you can use them at Washington Square.'

          5  Well they are not, so. Even the information that

          6  they are giving out is incorrect, and also they're

          7  complaint form refers people with disabilities to

          8  use the Department of the Interior, rather than to

          9  go to the Department of Justice where ADA complaints

         10  are filed.

         11                 At Vesuvio, interactive ramped play

         12  equipment is to be installed unlike the new

         13  playgrounds at Hecksher and Washington Market.

         14  Instead, Parks opted to put transfer platforms to

         15  non- accessible equipment in these facilities which

         16  means a child who uses a wheelchair has the option

         17  of sitting in his or her wheelchair or sitting on

         18  the platform.  This leads to a sense of isolation

         19  that often is carried into adulthood because of the

         20  lack of social interaction at a young age.  This

         21  could not be more discriminatory.  Children kept

         22  from playing together as we are hearing in the news

         23  this very week can lead to depression, obesity and

         24  their complications.

         25                 As for adults, across from a nursing
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          2  home is Abbington Square Park which was completely

          3  de- constructed in 2004.  It was turned from being a

          4  single- level, fully accessible, open plaza with

          5  swing sets for infant visitors into a bi-

          6  level,`green lobby', walk through garden with a loss

          7  of shade by removal of three trees.  None of the

          8  requested raised planters for people with

          9  disabilities to volunteer to use were installed. The

         10  designer had responded to this requested by looking

         11  down at me in my wheelchair and said, "Old people

         12  like to get down on their knees and dig in the

         13  dirt."  An accessible bern was placed in the center

         14  of the park replacing the open plaza.

         15                 In 2005 after this report came out,

         16  Parks has taken a piece of flatland at Canal and

         17  West Streets, created a park with a hill, carpeting

         18  the main entrance with cobblestone, and no signage

         19  to the ADA compliant entrance.

         20                 Instead of the usual three inch

         21  curbing, six inch curbing was used to set aside the

         22  grass from the open area.  In addition to that they

         23  built up the grass into hills so that even when a

         24  person wants to go and volunteer there, they cannot

         25  do it. This does not sound like a commitment of
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          2  inclusion by the Parks Department.

          3                 Every playground, every ballfield,

          4  park, every recreational facility and comfort

          5  station that is built or renovated today without 100

          6  percent access as far as the landscape allows will

          7  serve as monument for the next 20 to 30 years, that

          8  it is permissible by the government to allow Parks

          9  to violate the civil rights of people with

         10  disabilities.

         11                 MS. EMERMAN:  My name is Anne

         12  Emerman, and I am representing Gray Panthers, and a

         13  long time advocate with Disabled in Action.

         14                 I'm also a parent, a disabled parent,

         15  who raised a non- disabled daughter.  I spent five

         16  years in that sub- culture called`the playground.'

         17                 I also visited on a regular basis my

         18  older parents who vacationed in the summer their

         19  retirement at Rockaway, and brought our daughter and

         20  a few friends to the beach.  Well, we got to the

         21  sand at the bottom of the ramp and that was it.  The

         22  idea of getting to the waterline would have been

         23  glorious, and they do it Upstate.  They do it

         24  Upstate along the Hudson River where they've built

         25  parks.  In the creeks or directly to the river, they
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          2  have provided a removable pathway.  It can simply be

          3  rolled up, and it is made out of a material that

          4  gets you right to the shoreline.  And for people who

          5  want to go swimming, and swimming is a great

          6  therapeutic opportunity for older people, kids love

          7  it, and everybody in between.

          8                 So, I am speaking not only about our

          9  parks, our playgrounds but certainly the pools and

         10  the recreation centers, and the beaches of course.

         11                 I have to say that there is good news

         12  in this hearing, and the good news is that the Parks

         13  Department responds to pressure.  Pressure from the

         14  state comptroller, and I would hope in the future

         15  very strong continued pressure from the Council,

         16  whether it's the Parks Committee or Disability, or

         17  Contracts, or Technology.  I mean, you must keep

         18  that pressure. The Parks responds.

         19                 In six months, which is a little

         20  curious to me because they certainly had to know

         21  about the Hevesi surveys, probably as far back as

         22  2003, certainly in 2004, they got a preliminary

         23  report.  At the end of`04, maybe beginning of`05,

         24  they didn't do much in 2005.  They sat on their

         25  heels, which is what they've been doing for years.
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          2  They've been woefully, woefully out of compliance,

          3  and yet, the Parks Department can do it.  They can,

          4  when they want to, when there's pressure either from

          5  a community board, or from an advocacy group, or

          6  from parents with children raising a disabled child

          7  and non- disabled siblings, when a parent or a group

          8  or a coalition of parents will say,`we want to be

          9  able to bring our child/children to the pool, to the

         10  park, to the playground, so that they can play with

         11  each other, and all other children.'

         12                 The Parks for all Children that were

         13  done back in, I think the 70's or 80's, came out of

         14  a response to an organization of parents, active,

         15  vocal and forceful.  And they responded.

         16                 So the good news here is they

         17  respond.  The transition plan, this is very curious

         18  to me because back in 1990 when the ADA was signed,

         19  by 1992 every city agency had to come up with a

         20  transition plan, with a timetable.  That was filed

         21  with the Department of Law, MOPD, Mayor's Office of

         22  People with Disabilities, and the City Human Rights

         23  Commission, that the Parks Department can say,`we

         24  can't find a transition plan.' They filed it, forgot

         25  about it, didn't pay attention to it.
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          2                 The good news also is that they are

          3  now issuing guidelines, and scoping guidelines, the

          4  scoping part of it is, is that it tells you how to

          5  make something accessible, and how many of whatever

          6  you're providing is accessible, whether it's seating

          7  in an amphitheater, or if it's parking spaces.  How

          8  many, how to do it, it's a recipe book, and then you

          9  use that recipe book for each individual project.

         10                 I welcome Nancy Barthold, and the

         11  fact that she's an assisting commissioner means

         12  she's up there at the higher level of the Parks

         13  Department, and she seems sincere, certainly here

         14  today, and we have seen a memo she did on signage.

         15  It's a good memo.

         16                 So, there's hope.  I am hopeful, and

         17  with your pressure we can make some wonderful things

         18  happen in this City.

         19                 Parks is a very emotional thing for

         20  many people, and I have to say they've done some  --

         21    oh, the complaint grievance procedure.  It's out

         22  there on the Internet.  I am going to ask the

         23  Council to force the Parks Department to put this

         24  notice, grievance notice, in a prominent space in

         25  every park and park facility.  Just like they do in
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          2  hospitals, these are your patient rights, call this

          3  number if there is a problem.  We've got to have

          4  that on the kiosks, on the bulletin board, in a

          5  prominent space so that a parent that is having a

          6  problem or a senior citizen, let me tell you,

          7  seniors love parks.  It's where they meet their

          8  friends, it's where they do their daily

          9  constitutional, they do to the pools, they swim.

         10  And I have to say being a member of a local

         11  community board eight years in the 1980's, eight

         12  years in the 1990's, I learned that they respond to

         13  community boards, particularly when you have a

         14  progressive Parks chair, and you have some people on

         15  the Board who are savvy and know what's going on.

         16                 I have to say that my term on the

         17  community board got the Asser Levy Park and Pool

         18  accessible.  There is the 54th Street Recreation

         19  Center still a work in progress.  There are a number

         20  of other  --  St. Vartin Park, Bellevue South Park,

         21  and some waterfront parks, including Stuyvesant

         22  Cove.

         23                 So another reason why it's important

         24  to have people with disabilities on community

         25  boards, so appoint them.
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          2                 I want to say that there are some

          3  other outstanding examples.  Certainly Asphalt

          4  Green, I think that was Dinkins' borough president

          5  money, and he was very strong on disability issues,

          6  that was accessible.  I must say it's prohibitive

          7  because of the membership fee, and I think only

          8  Upper East Side folks can afford to go there but, it

          9  is magnificently accessible.

         10                 The other is the Harlem Meer and the

         11  Dana Discovery.  I mean that was Henry Stern did

         12  respond, now there's a ramp to the French Garden and

         13  to the English Garden, and you can be there in the

         14  evening with everyone else on a summer evening.  But

         15  our great joy is to walk around the Harlem Meer, and

         16  I can tell you there are many senior citizens

         17  walking around the Harlem Meer, and another joy is

         18  that I can use the bathroom in the Dana Center and

         19  they have an elevator.

         20                 So I mean, Parks knows what to do but

         21  you've got to pressure them, which is why it's so

         22  important, not only from community boards, but also

         23  that they have really broad representation from

         24  thier community, and put some seniors on it too,

         25  definitely have seniors.
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          2                 They did the Central Park Conservancy

          3    --  did involve the community when they were

          4  preparing to do the Great Lawn, and the Turtle Pond.

          5    They did it right, I mean, mostly right.  You can

          6  get to the grass there.  They have beveled it.

          7  Another great joy is to have a picnic lunch or

          8  dinner on a weekend in that area.

          9                 Also, the comfort station by the

         10  Deleport Theater is accessible and useable.  So, we

         11  program in our heads where the accessible ramps are,

         12  where we can pee.  I mean, necessary.

         13                 So there are great, great designs and

         14  they've done it but they require pressure,

         15  continuous, continuous pressure.

         16                 I want to say why it's so important,

         17  while they'll do something, then they'll do

         18  something stupid like put in the cobblestones to an

         19  entrance.  Or they will put a latch that is so

         20  difficult to manipulate, that you can't get in, or

         21  in the comfort station the door will turn in rather

         22  than out, so you get your chair in, you can't close

         23  the door, you can't use the toilet.  Or the soap

         24  dish is somewhere over here, which would take two or

         25  three steps to reach, and the paper towel rack is
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          2  somewhere way up, closer to the ceiling than it is

          3  to the floor.  That's why it is important to have

          4  people check things out all along the way, which is

          5  what they did with the Great Lawn.  I mean, we met

          6  at the Museum of Natural History, a whole group of

          7  people, then we took a tour through the park before

          8  they started in progress, and after it was finished.

          9    There are some fine tuning points that always have

         10  to be done.

         11                 So, my message is, there is good news

         12  here.  Parks responds to pressure but they also need

         13  to have the community, and thank you to Council

         14  Member Felder.  There are volunteers. We don't want

         15  to just handpick a few people.

         16                 Alexander Wood is not the only

         17  representative of the disability community.  There

         18  are many folks out there, and specifically folks in

         19  the community that use their parks, that don't want

         20  to go to Queens for the International.  I mean, they

         21  want a local park that they can visit, that they can

         22  meet friends in, and have a picnic.  That is what I

         23  have to say.

         24                 Thank you, thank you all.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.
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          2                 MS. EMERMAN:  I do have one other

          3  thing.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Sure.

          5                 MS. EMERMAN:  The Internet is not the

          6  only way to get out information, and this goes back

          7  to when Margarita Lopez was here, and she asked them

          8    --  it's not only the facilities, and put the

          9  access symbol here on your brochures because people

         10  have access or they don't have access to the

         11  Internet.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Are the symbols

         13  there yet?

         14                 MS. EMERMAN:  No, I don't know.  I

         15  don't think so. I keep asking for the latest, this

         16  years', and I never get one. So I suspect that it's

         17  not.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay, well we

         19  still have Parks people here so let's look into

         20  seeing if the symbols, and if there is a later one

         21  and on and on, because that seems very much vanilla,

         22  and can be done rather quickly.

         23                 MS. EMERMAN:  Also, they have many

         24  wonderful programs, and the programs, we could be

         25  spectators or we could be participants, and it's
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          2  more fun being a participant, whether it's at a

          3  children's, teen, or an adult program.  We want to

          4  be able to participate in the program.  So, we have

          5  to know if it's welcoming.  Have they made it

          6  accessible to all children, and I think this is

          7  where you can play a very big role.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  That was going

          9  to be my question.  There seems to be maybe two

         10  definitions.  Accessible being, meaning you can get

         11  into the park.

         12                 MS. EMERMAN:  To the facility.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  To the facility,

         14  versus being able to participate.

         15                 MS. EMERMAN:  Programmatic

         16  accessibility, it's two different things.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Are there

         18  definitions within the ADA that deal with that?

         19  Because I think it's kind of like when you

         20  childproof a house when infants start to walk,

         21  you're doing it from your viewpoint, not theirs.  It

         22  appears that with the accessibility issue, we're

         23  doing it from --

         24                 MS. EMERMAN:  The ADA guidelines.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  -- Right, you
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          2  understand?

          3                 So that it doesn't  --  it's nice if

          4  you can get in the park, but wouldn't it be better

          5  if you could really get in and use it?

          6                 MS. EMERMAN:  Which is why I go back

          7  to say you've got to get that parent raising

          8  disabled and non- disabled children, you've got to

          9  get that senior, and you've got to get a person

         10  who's going through life in a seated position.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Right.

         12                 MS. EMERMAN:  Well meaning people

         13  want to do it, but they don't get it, and that's why

         14  it's absolutely necessary to have the people in the

         15  situation.  You've got to have a senior with a

         16  walker.

         17                 I mean, you've got to have a broad

         18  representation of parents and everybody in between,

         19  seniors, et cetera.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I will let you

         21  say  --  I know that that is so clear, and I will

         22  mention it again.

         23                 You can't get into City Hall because

         24  of that issue with the cobblestone.  It just  --  it

         25  is ridiculous, and I mean, definitely with
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          2  wheelchair or walkers, but even something as simple

          3  as trying to walk in high heels you can break your

          4  ankle and so, there is  --  I mean, it goes a long

          5  way, literally as you are walking you can't even

          6  acknowledge people because you have to look down or

          7  it's a wrap.  So, I couldn't agree more.

          8                 MS. EMERMAN:  That is one that irked

          9  the community very much, $28 million, and it is

         10  inaccessible.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Is that not

         12  ridiculous?

         13                 MS. EMERMAN:  The same thing of how

         14  Council Member Lopez got wind of this, was in her

         15  district, East River Amphitheater, a $6 million

         16  project, was not going to have appropriate seating

         17  for wheelchair users, and there really wasn't much

         18  access to the comfort station.  I mean, $6 million

         19  and this is like 14 years after the ADA.

         20                 So, there's no  --  has not been any

         21  fail safe mechanism in Parks that when they renovate

         22  or built new or encountered a big project.  There's

         23  been no trigger, and there's also been no

         24  communication with the community users of such a

         25  facility.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I'm sorry Ms.

          3  Rubin, I cut you off.

          4                 MS. RUBIN:  Yes, I just wanted to add

          5  because you asked a question about accessibility,

          6  and the ADA and guidelines.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Hold on just a

          8  minute, you guys are whispering real loud, excuse

          9  me.

         10                 MS. RUBIN:  The ADA says as far as

         11  possible, all programs within the park should be

         12  made accessible.  Now, it's maybe not possible to

         13  make every element but it was just that

         14  you  --  I'll do Alan's, we go into Washington

         15  Square Park, we can't get on the grass because the

         16  Parks Department somewhere in like in the last 15,

         17  20 years stated retro- fitting all parks with

         18  curbing, and they forgot to leave a drop- space for

         19  people in wheelchairs, and when they put in gates,

         20  they actually have swing gates at Washington Square,

         21  so if I could get up a curb, which I cannot do

         22  because of my wheelchair.  Then they put in dog run,

         23  we asked them, "will that be made accessible" the

         24  second one, "oh sure."  Well, there's a step there.

         25  Okay, and then if I go into that park and I want to
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          2  have a picnic with my friends, I can't do that

          3  because there's curbing.  I can't use the bathroom

          4  there. The children's playground, we had an

          5  excellent designer, Chris Crowley (phonetic), there

          6  are elements there already for  --  in the toddler

          7  and in the other playground, so they can put in

          8  accessibility units without making all the play

          9  equipment but some of the play equipment if you

         10  don't have the money or the space because sometimes

         11  space is prohibitive.

         12                 It's generally that what I have found

         13  where they are really neglectful is that they, in

         14  these small parks, they try to keep people of the

         15  sidewalk, they don't make access.  I mean, like at

         16  Abbington Square, they did put in drop curb but then

         17  they put in a fence that cannot be opened.  I even

         18  asked the person in charge of the Abbington Square

         19  Alliance, "can you do this?"  And it dropped to the

         20  ground and it took two people, and he's an athlete,

         21  to put the chain link back together but even if they

         22  didn't do this, this is across from a nursing home,

         23  and the Parks Department was told that grass was not

         24  appropriate.  Not only did they put in grass but

         25  they built a hill right in front of that drop curb,
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          2  just a little zinger.

          3                 So, as we go around it's just like

          4  they are thinking in terms of  -- .

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  They're not

          6  getting it.

          7                 MS. RUBIN:  No.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 MS. EMERMAN:  One quick answer to

         10  Council Member Gerson.

         11                 Why they aren't doing in Washington

         12  Square

         13  Park  --  phase one was the fountain, they didn't

         14  have the money for phase two, so playgrounds,

         15  comfort stations, pathways, scrabble area, chess

         16  area, they didn't  --  that's not phase one, that's

         17  phase two.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  I'll address

         19  that later during questioning.

         20                 MS. EMERMAN:  That's another hearing.

         21                 MS. RUBIN:  Also, down at the

         22  waterfront, the Hudson River Trust put in this

         23  wonderful picnic table with an overhang.  Adrian

         24  Benepe was quoted in the paper saying, "We'll use

         25  those everywhere."  Well, they've disappeared off
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          2  the radar, and it may be  --  you don't think about

          3  these things, but having a picnic and I would have

          4  to be on the side, but when they add this additional

          5  ledge, I can go right under there.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Oh, I see.

          7                 MS. RUBIN:  I can go under there, and

          8  I can do my artwork, I can do my reading, just

          9  spread out, and I can actually be a participant in

         10  that, and not sitting over here on the edge.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Most of the

         12  parks you have mentioned, I believe, were Manhattan-

         13  heavy.

         14                 MS. EMERMAN:  I live in Manhattan.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I figured that.

         16  No, no,

         17  my question was going to be do you know about the

         18  accessible communities in other boroughs being as

         19  vocal in terms of

         20  getting  --  because you know, what striking me now

         21  is the two pronged test as I am saying, you can get

         22  in it, you just can't use it.  And so going forward,

         23  as I look at scope and design and as with parks that

         24  I fund, I need to be thinking not can they just get

         25  in it, but is it going to be something that people
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          2  can actually participate in?

          3                 MS. EMERMAN:  What is important here,

          4  and maybe we can help is our counterparts in the

          5  Bronx and Queens and Brooklyn, Staten Island who are

          6  there.  Certainly we look to the independent living

          7  centers, and that is certainly a starting point, but

          8  it's important for all neighborhood parks in every

          9  nook and cranny of this city to be available.  It is

         10  what makes this city liveable on a day to day, week

         11  to week basis.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 MS. RUBIN:  We do have a person in

         14  Queens who's questioning a playground that they're

         15  doing where they're building some kind of boat type

         16  of structure for children to play on, and she's

         17  wanted to know will it be made accessible, and she

         18  is not able to get an answer.  But I think the most

         19  important thing that I've learned in the last few

         20  months is that because somebody was able to get the

         21  bid for a certain park, and there was absolutely

         22  nothing in there about the ADA compliance.

         23                 I think, and I am not sure, please

         24  don't quote me, it just says that the contractors

         25  will obey all applicable laws, but there's nothing
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          2  in there saying that the benches need to have a

          3  back, or the playground needs this, or there should

          4  be no curbing.  There's nothing in it, and I don't

          5  believe it's in any of their bids.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

          7                 Council Member Felder.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Thank you

          9  very much.

         10                 Again, it's one of those hearings

         11  that I thought that I'd be gone a long time ago but

         12  that it's really been so informative.

         13                 So I want to thank the chairs for

         14  this important hearing.

         15                 I just wanted to raise something  --

         16  take the credit for something that my colleague,

         17  Council Member Palma raised about the bathroom

         18  facilities.

         19                 In general, in other words, clearly

         20  for the disabled and the seniors and the elderly,

         21  it's much more difficult but the fact is that I

         22  would say that most of the parks, the facilities are

         23  atrocious, and I am not blaming Parks because the

         24  fact is that they can put up a new park and then

         25  within days they're vandalized.  Now, I know the
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          2  City for a while has been trying to bid out public

          3  bathrooms, and some of the models, in fact, I saw

          4  one of the models, literally when you go out, the

          5  whole thing gets cleaned automatically somehow.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  I know they

          8  are very expensive but it's not a question, I am

          9  just asking if the chair, certainly the chair of

         10  Parks, even though I'm not on the committee, if that

         11  would something that could be discussed on a future

         12  meeting because if people can't use the facilities,

         13  then certainly maybe the younger kids, they can go

         14  to a store nearby and beg the guy if they buy an ice

         15  cream to let them use the bathroom.  But for seniors

         16  and the disabled, it's certainly a big problem,

         17  maybe something that we can talk about.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Yes, that is

         19  something that goes to the question that we have

         20  been dealing with, with Parks and as we renovate

         21  parks, putting money towards maintenance and part of

         22  maintenance is having a bathroom cleaned.

         23                 We have New Yorkers for Parks that do

         24  their report card yearly, and one of the things they

         25  look at is whether a bathroom is workable, like
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          2  would you want to use it or do you want to run to

          3  the next location.

          4                 So, thank you.

          5                 MS. RUBIN:  Can I just add one thing

          6  about bathrooms?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Sure.

          8                 MS. RUBIN:  When they do the

          9  bathrooms, they're doing minimum standards, and

         10  where Anne finds it's fine for her, my wheelchair is

         11  a little bit longer, and a lot of these motorized

         12  wheelchairs and scooters that are coming out today

         13  are larger.  We don't have a communication line with

         14  the Parks Department.

         15                 So rather than doing bare minimum, we

         16  would really like them to ask us what would probably

         17  be appropriate.  We've already spoken to Central

         18  Park Conservancy, and had a very good talk about

         19  them mapping the park there.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Great, thank

         21  you.

         22                 Council Member Gerson, but wait,

         23  wait.  Seriously, no Washington Square Park-

         24  specific questions.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Madam Chair,
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          2  I have one question unrelated to the Park, and I do

          3  have to make a brief clarification because a

          4  statement was made on the record requiring

          5  clarification with that, I will be very brief.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay, brief.

          7  Thank you.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  But the

          9  question is in general, and this is a very serious

         10   --  I appreciate that.

         11                 Are there  --  we all know that some

         12  parks more than others tend to be utilized for

         13  various commercial activities, various type of  --

         14  on an ongoing basis, various type of vending, shall

         15  we say, various other commercial activities situated

         16  in the parks, along passageways and walkways, are

         17  they organized, or is there a need to organize those

         18  type of activities in a way to assure that they do

         19  not interfere with accessibility or, in your

         20  judgement is the situation fine the way it is?

         21                 MS. EMERMAN:  Maybe Margie can  --  I

         22  have broader concern.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  And this is

         24  without prejudice to the value of those activities,

         25  it's just the organization of it I am getting at.
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          2                 MS. EMERMAN:  I see a lot of events

          3  happening in parks.  To me, it's a kind of a

          4  privatization that if parks, I mean, you've got to

          5  understand this statement, but  --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  But with

          7  respect specifically to accessibility ma'am.

          8                 MS. EMERMAN:  --  I would think that

          9  any event should include either spectators or even

         10  performers.  I mean, there are groups, our own

         11  Disabled in Action Singers, I mean could perform in

         12  a park, and we have at the St. Vartin Park, and you

         13  know people from the Rusk Institute came over, other

         14  people in the neighborhood came.  But it has to be

         15  part of the planning.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Okay.

         17                 MS. EMERMAN:  Part of the planning.

         18  Just the privatization, that really upsets and

         19  frightens me because it's for  --  raising our

         20  property values and tourism.  I mean, it's really a

         21  very gradual and sometimes not very gradual

         22  privatization of our public parks, our jewels that

         23  are really closed off and the public is excluded for

         24  either hours, or sometimes days, and that's a real

         25  problem.
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          2                 MS. RUBIN:  Okay at the new hamburger

          3  stand at Madison Square Garden, there's a minor step

          4  up to it, and some people in wheelchairs have had

          5  difficulty entering it but are you speaking of like

          6  when they have the Coca- Cola people or stuff like

          7  that?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Well let me

          9  clarify the question.

         10                 I was speaking generally and I

         11  appreciate Anne's answer, that's an important point

         12  to keep in mind, but I am also interested in whether

         13  or not you think there is an accessibility issue,

         14  putting aside any other issues, with respect to use

         15  of park walkways and passageways for commercial

         16  vending?

         17                 We have some parks we have a lot of

         18  commercial vending stations, and is that an issue or

         19  not?

         20                 MS. RUBIN:  You may be speaking of

         21  Union Square Farmers Market, and on the day when

         22  they have a lot of vendors there.  I found I've

         23  always been able to get through.  I have more

         24  difficulty with the people than anybody else.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Good.
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          2                 MS. RUBIN:  And if you carry a camera

          3  which I do at all times, and you say, "oh, could you

          4  move that", and I click my camera, they're not in my

          5  way the next time, okay?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Okay so good,

          7  we don't want to, and then Madam Chair  --  just the

          8  statement Anne, and just going back to your point

          9  about the phasing, 30 seconds, the original phasing

         10  you outlined correctly, the fountain first, I

         11  believe in response to the legal developments, the

         12  phasing order may have changed and that's why I was

         13  hoping for a response, which I have not yet received

         14  as to whether or not the phasing has altered so that

         15  they are going ahead with a non- fountain part of

         16  the park before the fountain, and as early as

         17  November, and if that's the case, we need to see

         18  those plans before they're out to bid.  I am sure

         19  you would agree with that.

         20                 MS. RUBIN:  Good news.  Is that the

         21  northwest quadrant?  They've already stated fencing

         22  off part of it.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  That's what I

         24  am told but I am trying to get confirmation.

         25                 MS. RUBIN:  Well, they said it was
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          2  proceeding.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Thank you

          4  very much, Madam Chair.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay, thank you

          6  very much.

          7                 Thank you Anne, and thank you Ms.

          8  Rubin.

          9                 Our next panel is Robert Levine, Carr

         10  Massi for Jean Ryan, and John Gresham.

         11                 I'm going to ask you, excuse me, if

         12  you could network when we're done, thanks.

         13                 Who do I not have up here?

         14                 MS. MASSI:  Bobbie.

         15                 MR. GRESHAM:  Bobbie Levine has let I

         16  am afraid.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay, sorry.

         18                 MS. MASSI:  My name is Carr Massi,

         19  and I am the President of Disabled in Action.

         20                 Before I read for Jean Ryan who's our

         21  Vice President, I have a few things that I want to

         22  say.

         23                 I definitely agree with my

         24  colleagues, and I think this is a great thing that

         25  we're all here because it brings up a lot of issues

                                                            110

          1  PARKS AND RECREATION AND MENTAL HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2  that we have to think about and try to resolve.

          3                 Getting back to the rest rooms, it

          4  would be a good idea if the Parks Department

          5  considers a unisex bathroom.  The reason being, if

          6  you have a loved one of the opposite sex that has to

          7  use the facilities, it's much more private and not

          8  embarrassing to that person.  Because if it's a man

          9  who's had a stroke and his loved one is with him,

         10  you can's take him in the men's bathroom or vice

         11  versa.  So, I think that is one thing that they

         12  should consider.

         13                 And to give up a piece of equipment

         14  for one of our disabled kids, and using their excuse

         15  for money, I will not buy. First of all, there's a

         16  lot of money here, and there's more money and the

         17  council is contributing money also because we feel

         18  very strongly, once these parks are done they're not

         19  going to be done for another hundred years.  So

         20  let's do it right the first time, and then don't

         21  come back to us and say, "oh well, I didn't think

         22  about that", or now it's going to cost us more

         23  money.  I just won't deal with that.

         24                 (Reading testimony of Jean Ryan)

         25                 My name is Jean Ryan, and I am

                                                            111

          1  PARKS AND RECREATION AND MENTAL HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2  testifying on behalf of Disabled in Action of

          3  Metropolitan New York.

          4                 We have members with various kinds of

          5  disabilities, and we all use parks.  We are very

          6  concerned about the accessibility of New York City

          7  parks.

          8                 Most people don't think about the

          9  accessibility of parks until they have a disability,

         10  or a family member has a disability.  Playgrounds

         11  are usually overlooked, and should be accessible to

         12  children with disabilities, as well as their

         13  disabled parents and grandparents.

         14                 As a disabled adult, I want to be

         15  able to take my grandchildren to the park.  I can do

         16  it in San Mateo, California where a high playground

         17  structure is wonderfully accessible by a long ramp

         18  that is integrated into the structure.  Kids of all

         19  ages are gleefully running up and down the ramp,

         20  looking down below, walking across a bridge- like

         21  structure, turning big wheels to steer, and moving

         22  other interesting things on the upper level. No one

         23  is left out.  Everyone wants to touch everything and

         24  go everywhere, and they can.  The way down is either

         25  by the ramp, or by several kinds of slides, some
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          2  covered and some uncovered, or by a ladder.

          3                 I use a wheelchair, and I could bring

          4  my toddler granddaughter to the park, and onto the

          5  equipment.  Other low equipment is also accessible

          6  to children with disabilities as well as to non-

          7  disabled children.  The point is, there isn't just

          8  one little thing available for children with

          9  disabilities, and adults with disabilities could

         10  keep up with their young charges.

         11                 Every playground in New York City

         12  should be accessible to children with disabilities,

         13  as well as their care givers who may have

         14  disabilities but the sad truth is that most

         15  playgrounds are for able- bodied children.  We need

         16  people with vision and determination in the Parks

         17  Department, not do the minimum, but rather the

         18  maximum in creating playgrounds and parks, which

         19  have the most accessibility and the most inclusion

         20  possible.

         21                 Steps should never be the only option

         22  onto a raised platform or to a climbing structure.

         23  All playground services should be navigated by

         24  wheelchairs.  With imagination, park designers could

         25  do the right thing and build accessible playgrounds
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          2  that will appeal to all children.

          3                 In the rest of our parks, wheelchair

          4  accessibility should be the norm, not the exception.

          5    We should be able to go all over.

          6                 In Central Park it is almost

          7  impossible to get around because there are curbs

          8  everywhere when we need to get into or off a

          9  sidewalk or road.  It is so frustrating and

         10  confusing because we are forced to go away out of

         11  our way.

         12                 In the Conservatory Garden some of us

         13  have been locked in the Garden when the accessible

         14  gate has been locked hours before the inaccessible

         15  gate is locked.  That is against the law, and it

         16  puts us in danger.  New playgrounds in Central Park

         17  do not have universal access universal access.

         18                 I tried to go to Bowling Green Park

         19  on a nice day, and circled around the whole park to

         20  discover that there was no wheelchair access

         21  whatsoever because it was ringed by a curb.  I

         22  complained to MOPD, Mayor's Office of People with

         23  Disabilities, and someone put up a horrible wooden

         24  ramp with a big lip on it, which was inaccessible.

         25  We call them suicide ramps, by the way.
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          2                 The plans for Washington Square Park

          3  are problematic for wheelchair users.  You are

          4  telling us what we are getting instead of listening

          5  to what we need, and what Parks needs to have is

          6  space for wheelchair users to sit next to benches

          7  with their friends and family, instead of us having

          8  to sit in the middle of the sidewalk to visit.

          9                 Parks also needs to have smooth

         10  pathways made of hard surface.  All of the mounted

         11  pavers such as those next to Central Park, around

         12  the Museum of Natural History, and along Shore Road

         13  in Brooklyn, I am sure there are other places,

         14  should be replaced as soon as possible with flat

         15  pavers or regular sidewalks.  If you spend just five

         16  minutes in a scooter, or a wheelchair trying to ride

         17  on the extremely bumpy surfaces, you would see what

         18  I mean.  For someone who's already in pain to be on

         19  these surfaces is as comfortable as being in a

         20  blender.

         21                 When we request information or park

         22  accessibility, we are ignored or promised the

         23  information, and not given it.

         24                 Comptroller Hevesi already cited the

         25  Parks Department for lack of attention to
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          2  accessibility.  It is time people at the Parks

          3  Department followed these guidelines that they

          4  agreed to.  But, it is also time that they put true

          5  accessibility at the top of the list, and make parks

          6  inclusionary and visionary.

          7                 By the way Disabled in Action, we

          8  have offered our assistance, okay?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

         10                 MS. MASSI:  Thank you.

         11                 MR. GRESHAM:  I am John Gresham.  I

         12  am a lawyer, I work for New York Lawyers for the

         13  Public Interest, which is a public interest firm as

         14  you could guess, and I have been in conversations

         15  with DIA about the Hevesi report since it came out.

         16  I helped them draft a letter which went to

         17  Commissioner Benepe on May 30th.  There are two

         18  parts to the letter.  One I want to read to you.

         19                 This is signed by 16 people who are

         20  members and officers of DIA.

         21                  "We want to meet with you

         22  periodically as Parks moves forward to implement the

         23  Comptroller's recommendations and the underlying

         24  law."

         25                 It also requested a number of
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          2  documents to see what was happening as far as that

          3  implementation of the recommendations was going.

          4  Some of those documents were eventually produced on

          5  September 14th, two- and- a- half months later, but

          6  only after an appeal was filed, a foil appeal.  One

          7  of the documents that was not produced, although, I

          8  think it's clearly requested, were the guidelines

          9  that you have discussed, the generic guidelines that

         10  are mentioned in this Implementation Plan, the thing

         11  that looks like a spread sheet, which are supposed

         12  to define the scope of ADA work that will be

         13  included in projects.  That's a very significant

         14  document, and here's why.

         15                 In the Comptroller's report he

         16  mentioned several examples where major, major work

         17  was done on a park that simply went around and

         18  ignored big access problems that were simply left.

         19  So for example, if this table represents a park, and

         20  the microphone is the comfort station, they can

         21  renovate the whole thing leaving the comfort

         22  station/microphone untouched, and say, "well, we

         23  haven't altered that so we don't have to build that,

         24  or rebuild that to code."  And that's what the

         25  Comptroller's recommendation was trying to get at.
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          2                 The document that is mentioned here

          3  but has not been supplied yet is their answer.  I

          4  haven't seen it, you haven't seen it I don't think.

          5  I don't know what it says, but it's very important,

          6  and that's a core concern it seems to me given the

          7  history here, if you're thinking about the

          8  possibility of legislation at the City level, to

          9  deal with that habit of simply ignoring and building

         10  all around the problem.

         11                 I don't have Deputy Commissioner

         12  Barthold's testimony, and I didn't get it down

         13  verbatim, but at the beginning when she was, I

         14  think, reading, she did say something about how

         15  their renovations projects sometimes do some things,

         16  and not others, and that's exactly the problem.

         17                 So I urge you to get that.  I urge

         18  you to consider whether it's adequate, and whether

         19  something further needs to be done by way of

         20  legislation from this Council.

         21                 I urge you to keep up the pressure to

         22  accept offers and requests like the one that 16

         23  people from DIA made on May 30th, that they still

         24  have no answer on.

         25                 I also ask you to just keep front and
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          2  center one additional thing that's been alluded to

          3  but I just want to make sure it doesn't escape

          4  notice.  A transition plan we're hearing will be out

          5  in draft form in 2007, that's 15 years after it was

          6  required by law.  That's the point from which we are

          7  starting. The good news today is that, I guess Anne

          8  put it as well as anybody could, that they do

          9  respond to pressure but we need to keep it up.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

         12                 If you could provide a copy of the

         13  letter that you sent Commissioner, signed by the 16

         14  members, that would be helpful.  Is that okay?

         15                 COMMISSIONER SAPOLIN:  Sure, yes, I

         16  think so.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay great.

         18                 Any questions from my colleagues?

         19                 Thank you very much.

         20                 Our next panel is Okenfe Aigbe,

         21  Jerome Barth, and Geoffrey Croft.

         22                 You can get started.

         23                 MR. AIGBE:  Okay good morning.  My

         24  name is Okenfe Aigbe, and I am a Government

         25  Community Relations Associate at New Yorkers for
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          2  Parks, the only independent watchdog for all the

          3  City's parks, beaches and playgrounds.  NY4P fully

          4  supports measures to enhance wheelchair access in

          5  parks, playgrounds, and beaches in all five

          6  boroughs.

          7                 According to the Trust for Public

          8  Land Center for City Park Excellence, equitable

          9  access is one of the seven most important components

         10  of an excellent city park system.  Cities should

         11  ensure that "a wide range of challenged persons,

         12  including the elderly, the infirm, blind and those

         13  confined to wheelchairs" can access city parks.

         14                 The NYC Parks Department, DPR, has

         15  had some success in increasing access in recent

         16  years.  The State Comptroller's Audit or the DPR,

         17  published in December 2005 states that many

         18  facilities in city parks have been upgraded to

         19  improve access.  In fact, DPR established an ADA

         20  Advisory Group in 2003 to evaluate and improve

         21  accessibility joining the ranks of cities like

         22  Boston, Seattle and Chicago.

         23                 However, according to the audit, DPR

         24  has a piecemeal approach to making improvements, has

         25  not made a long term plan for providing greater
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          2  access, and has not actively publicized parks or

          3  features that are ADA- compliant.  NY4P recommends

          4  that DPR enhance their website to better promote

          5  ADA- compliant features, and that sufficient funding

          6  will be provided to maintain those features.

          7                 More information is needed on

          8  accessible features. Parks has been building ADA-

          9  accessible playgrounds since the 1970's, and posts a

         10  comprehensive list of accessible playgrounds on its

         11  website.  This is a great resource for parents of

         12  children who are in wheelchairs.  However, no

         13  information is available on the website for

         14  individuals looking for other ADA- compliant

         15  features in parks, such as park entrances, pathways

         16  and bathrooms.  Parks users should be able to see a

         17  list of parks that contain accessible facilities,

         18  and when searching for an individual park, those

         19  accessible facilities should be highlighted.  This

         20  would enable park users to better plan for their

         21  visits.

         22                 Access to the beach.  Visitors should

         23  also be able to look on- line to be find wheelchair-

         24  accessible beach entrances. In addition, wheelchair

         25  access to beaches should be improved so that the
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          2  elderly and disabled can get to the ocean for

          3  relaxation.  In fact, Brooklyn Community Board 13

          4  which includes Coney Island and Brighton Beach,

          5  specifically called attention to this problem in

          6  their Community Needs Statement, where they

          7  recommended that wheelchair- accessible pathways to

          8  the surf be constructed.

          9                 Lastly, maintenance funding must be

         10  provided.  In the past two decades parks staffing

         11  has decreased by 60 percent, and funding has

         12  decreased by 20 percent.  Additional maintenance

         13  funding must be provided in order for ADA- compliant

         14  features to remain accessible.  If features such as

         15  pathways, safety surfacing in playground, accessible

         16  ramps, and compliant bathroom stalls are allowed to

         17  deteriorate, those in wheelchairs will no longer be

         18  able to use them.

         19                 New Yorkers for Parks makes the

         20  following recommendations.

         21                 One, the Parks Department should

         22  enhance their website to provide increased

         23  information on ADA- compliant facilities.

         24                 Secondly, the City should provide

         25  sufficient maintenance funding so that all ADA-

                                                            122

          1  PARKS AND RECREATION AND MENTAL HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2  compliant parks, play grounds and beaches remain

          3  accessible to park users who are wheelchair bound.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 MR. BARTH:  Good afternoon council

          6  members.  Thank you for overseeing this hearing.

          7                 My name is Jerome Barth and I am the

          8  Director of Operations for the Bryant Park

          9  Corporation, which is interested by the decisions of

         10  New York to run Bryant Park.

         11                 Bryant Park Corporation's primary

         12  mission is to make a visit to Bryant Park a pleasant

         13  and memorable experience for all.  Ensuring access

         14  to the park for disabled persons was an integral

         15  part of the original plan for the renovation of the

         16  park when it reopened to the public in 1992.

         17                 Currently, of the 13 public entrances

         18  to Bryant Park, five meet ADA requirements.  These

         19  access points were created at locations where the

         20  elevation of the park most closely matched that of a

         21  sidewalk.  The five ADA- compliant entrances are:

         22  The entrance at 40th Street and Fifth Avenue; the

         23  New York Public Library's 42nd Street entrance ramp;

         24  the 40th Street Upper Terrace entrance; the 41 West

         25  40th Street entrance; and the Bryant Park Bathroom
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          2  entrance on 42nd Street.

          3                 To facilitate the movement of

          4  wheelchairs within the park, the Bryant Park

          5  Corporation created two large ramps north and south

          6  of the Upper Terrace steps.  These allow persons in

          7  wheelchairs to move easily between the Upper Terrace

          8  area and the main area of the park, we are a two-

          9  level park as many parks in the City, including the

         10  lawn, gravel paths and the 42nd and 40th Street

         11  alleys.

         12                 To further comply with ADA

         13  requirements, the Bryant Park Corporation made the

         14  park's bathroom wheelchair accessible in 1992.

         15  Later, we built a wheelchair ramp that connected

         16  Andrew Heiskell Plaza, which serves as the park's

         17  entrance at 42nd Street and Sixth Avenue, to the

         18  sidewalk.  In 2002, to aid those who have difficulty

         19  negotiating steps, we added railings to all the park

         20  stairways, both within the park and at every

         21  entrance.

         22                 Please note that whenever submitting

         23  plans for park modifications to the Department of

         24  Parks and Recreation or overseer, the Bryant Park

         25  Corporation proceeds with the knowledge that the
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          2  Department always presses for designs that

          3  facilitate wheelchair access to parks.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 MR. CROFT:  Good afternoon, my name

          6  is Geoffrey Croft.  I am the President and Founder

          7  of NYC Park Advocates.  We are a non- profit, non-

          8  partisan watchdog group dedicated to restoring

          9  public funding, improving public parks, increasing

         10  park services, and expanding open space in New York

         11  City.

         12                 We are the only citywide group that

         13  monitors all city, state and federal park lands.

         14                 The City is failing to provide

         15  adequate services for what should be one of their

         16  most pressing priorities: Citizens with physical

         17  challenges.

         18                 According to the 2000 U.S. Census,

         19  more than 1.8 million residents in New York City

         20  have a disability, including more than 350,000

         21  school aged children.  Yet, these children are

         22  conspicuously absent from most city playgrounds.

         23  This should come as no surprise as the needs of

         24  these children have largely been ignored.

         25                 Much of our built park system remains
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          2  inaccessible to people of physical challenges.

          3  Examples include comfort stations, pathways, lawns,

          4  playground equipment, natural areas, picnic tables,

          5  and beaches.  Many park features are inaccessible

          6  due to a lack of curb cuts, steep grading, poor

          7  maintenance, outdated specifications and codes,

          8  poorly designed gates, and the use of unfriendly

          9  construction materials.  Adding insult to injury,

         10  the city regularly skirts around the law and its

         11  intention when renovating and building new

         12  facilities.  The city has been slow, many say

         13  negligent, in fully embracing the Americans with

         14  Disabilities Act.  Advocates point to the lack of

         15  enforcement and plain old insensitivity, as major

         16  factors why the city is not complying fully.

         17                 The City continues to actively create

         18  barriers by illegally building, and by allowing

         19  other to build, park facilities that discriminate

         20  against people with physical challenges.

         21                 In 1974 a small unit within the

         22  Department of City Planning was assigned to research

         23  the needs of people with disabilities.  Among the

         24  group's findings were that "people with disabilities

         25  often become isolated form the rest of society

                                                            126

          1  PARKS AND RECREATION AND MENTAL HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2  because they avoid certain buildings, streets, and

          3  facilities that were difficult for them to

          4  navigate."

          5                  "Many children with disabilities had

          6  also become isolated from the general child

          7  population because it was nearly impossible for them

          8  to enter many playgrounds, let alone play on the

          9  equipment."  Incredibly, today, just five of the

         10  DPR's 997 playgrounds are fully accessible for

         11  children of all abilities according to the DPA's

         12  website.  A few others have minimum play equipment,

         13  often with just one piece in each playground

         14  satisfying the City's definition and legal

         15  obligation to the ADA. Independent access to the

         16  Parks Department's own headquarters, the Arsenal in

         17  Central Park, was accomplished only a few months

         18  ago.  A few months ago, more than 15 years after the

         19  ADA was created.

         20                 Civil rights laws say all Americans

         21  have the right, not only to have access to public

         22  facilities, but also to be able to use them.  In the

         23  City's sad version of compliance, a child may be

         24  able to gain access to a play ground, but for most

         25  as Ms. Foster was saying, the sad reality is they
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          2  will not be able to use any of the equipment.

          3                 The City has been able to skirt the

          4  intent of the law and its responsibilities for too

          5  long.  The City must develop and implement a policy

          6  whereby children of all abilities are able to

          7  flourish side by side in safe, healthy, nurturing

          8  play environment if we are to help break the cycle

          9  of social isolation that affects people who are

         10  routinely excluded.  This includes installing fully

         11  integrated, universally accessible playgrounds in

         12  safe, well maintained parks.

         13                 People with disabilities from all age

         14  groups have also been virtually ignored by

         15  recreation and educational programs provided by DPR.

         16    For decades, municipal parks and recreation

         17  departments throughout the country have offered

         18  diverse recreation programs for people with

         19  disabilities through therapeutic recreation

         20  divisions.  Indeed, some recreation centers have

         21  been built solely for people with disabilities, but

         22  not in New York City, the city with the largest

         23  population of people with disabilities in the

         24  country.  Additionally, less than five percent of

         25  the city's more than 600 public bathrooms in public
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          2  parks are accessible for ADA compliance.

          3                 We must reverse this culture of

          4  exclusion and isolation that permeates our society.

          5  This discrimination perpetuates the City's

          6  reputation as being uncaring and cold, while

          7  sustaining a tiered class system.  This entirely

          8  preventable, inhospitable environment has long

          9  created significant social and physical barriers.

         10  Barriers which are unacceptable.  A great deal of

         11  work must be done, but success can only be achieved

         12  if we begin to address these issues honestly.

         13                 I do have a presentation as all of

         14  you are aware. We are the first group to ever

         15  inspect every single city, state and park in the

         16  City's history, and we'll be giving now a short

         17  slide presentation on some of these accessibility

         18  issues.

         19                 This is Isaiah, nine years old, in

         20  Brooklyn.  Not only does he have to content with the

         21  fact the equipment is not accessible, the

         22  maintenance of the actual park itself has uneven

         23  surfaces.

         24                 In the City's version of compliance

         25  this would comply.  They have ramps leading up to
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          2  the playground, but there's absolutely nothing for

          3  the child to play with.

          4                 This is a brand new playground, it's

          5  not even open yet in East Harlem, it's the same

          6  deal.  This is McNair.

          7                 By the way, less than five percent of

          8  the children, the Parks Department uses sometimes

          9  when they want to, they use a ramp system, and it's

         10  very important to realize less than five percent of

         11  children who use the ramp system, what that means is

         12  that a child actually has to get out of his or her

         13  wheelchair, and crawl around the play equipment.

         14  That's the type of structures that the Parks

         15  Department is actually installing.

         16                 This is a brand new playground,

         17  actually a brand new park in Brooklyn.  Again,

         18  nothing for a person in a wheelchair to use, and

         19  that's the South Oxford Center in Brooklyn.

         20                 This is an interesting design.  The

         21  Parks Department, in Grant Park up in the Bronx,

         22  again a brand new park.  It opened a year ago, they

         23  for some reason put the basketball court on a second

         24  level, which has four steps on it. But of course,

         25  the only access that does not have steps is
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          2  locked 24/7.

          3                 In the Bronx, this is what they mean

          4  by an accessible swing.  They have a sign but of

          5  course, there is no swing.  And by the way, it says

          6  there is supposed to be a swing there, and just for

          7  the record, there's no ramp system for accessible

          8  swings.  So basically, all they're doing is putting

          9  a plastic swing, which again, if you're a person of

         10  limited physical strength, if you are parent or a

         11  caretaker of a child, that's useless.  Obviously, a

         12  child is not going to be able to jump up on this

         13  either.  But again, this is what the City is

         14  installing.

         15                 Again, just a simple design issue.

         16  This is in the West Village, it's hard for us so-

         17  called abled- bodied people to gain access to this

         18  playground, much less a person with any physical

         19  challenges.

         20                 This is what it looks like, and

         21  again, these aren't huge capital issues.  So much of

         22  this is common sense, putting on a`thinking cap.'

         23  What do other people need?  What do they require?

         24                 Interesting, this latch weighs about

         25   --  you can gain entrance, this is to the exact
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          2  same playground in the West Village, you can gain

          3  entrance with the strength of a pinky.  The only

          4  problem, this entrance there is four steps on Canal

          5  Street. So, you couldn't get to it.

          6                 This is one of the early, going back,

          7  old school. This is one of the NYCHA, city housing

          8  authority installed this in the late 70', early

          9  80's, and that pretty much is your definition of

         10  what accessible was.

         11                 This is in Staten Island.  According

         12  to the Parks Department, one of the very few of five

         13  playgrounds that's actually completely ramped for

         14  people with all abilities.  As you can see, a person

         15  in a wheelchair and other physical issues can gain

         16  access to it.

         17                 This is the aforementioned Abbington

         18  Square, completely bizarre.  You can see they put

         19  this very heavy chain linked fence across, and the

         20  architect as aforementioned, tortured the disabled

         21  community with access to this.

         22                 This is a lovely bathroom in

         23  Riverside Park.  You can see the accessible sign but

         24  there's only one problem, it's only 26 inches, so

         25  the Parks Department not only is not complying but
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          2  they're actually mislabeling facilities as

          3  accessible.

          4                 This is actually in Plum Beach, which

          5  is a city and federally managed park, part of the

          6  gateway and also part of the Parks Department.  This

          7  used to have because of the tremendous budget cuts

          8  over the last forty years, they closed down the

          9  comfort stations.  Two things about this, you can

         10  see that they are actually  --  Porta- Sans were

         11  installed there, but Porta- Sans also come in

         12  accessibility size as well.  So like Stuyvesant Park

         13  Cove which was aforementioned as well, they did not

         14  put those in there.  So again, we are not complying,

         15  the City and our partners, our non- profit partners,

         16  to comply with ADA. This person by the way, this

         17  gentlemen, was a Parks Department plumber for 22

         18  years.

         19                 This is in Corlear's Hook in Lower

         20  Manhattan, same thing.

         21                 This is a story playground up in the

         22  Bronx, it's just as of last week going into - -

         23  they've just started to renovate the park.  So

         24  that's a park that we're keeping our eye on.

         25                 This is in Union Square, as you can
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          2  see, there's an accessible ramp but because of the

          3  concession they feel that they can lock this after a

          4  certain hour.  So that's just a wonderful thing.

          5  Again, complying, getting our partners, our

          6  concession partners to deal.

          7                 This is Bryant Park, nice to have a

          8  gentlemen there.  Bryant Park has done some great

          9  things, and they've also done some things that are

         10  not so good.  This is a newly  --  they spent

         11  $200,000 renovating the bathrooms, completely gutted

         12  everything, and they forgot to make the bathroom

         13  accessible to wheelchairs.  There's about a 31 inch

         14  opening there, but you cannot get a wheelchair into

         15  the bathroom itself.  They actually did go to the

         16  trouble of putting in the hand railings but the

         17  clear space that's needed, and the Parks Department

         18  is actually has done that as well.

         19                 This is Vesuvio, unbelievable what's

         20  happening there.  Again, the Parks Department has

         21  decided that it does not need to touch the comfort

         22  station.  Although, they're actually putting in an

         23  ADA lift in the pool, they don't feel that people

         24  with physical challenges need to have access to a

         25  bathroom.  So as it has been suggested, apparently
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          2  they want the`so- called' disabled community to go

          3  to the bathroom in the public pool.

          4                 As you can see, it's fully the entire

          5  playground that is being renovated, and the Parks

          6  Department, again, they love to say it wasn't in the

          7  scope of work.  Obviously that's not an excuse for

          8  not including inclusion.

          9                 This is our programming, and we

         10  haven't even gotten into programming which Ms.

         11  Foster you actually mentioned a couple of things

         12  about that, which is great to hear.

         13                 Programming is another big issue, and

         14  as you heard from Ms. Barthold from the Parks

         15  Department, it was extremely telling that the Parks

         16  Department said that it was an`option' to include

         17  people in programming.  So that means children

         18  having access to use the playground equipment, you

         19  heard the Parks Department's testimony that that was

         20  an option.  It certainly is not an option, it's the

         21  law.

         22                 This is a park, in Pelham Bay Park,

         23  running a nature program.  The park rangers for

         24  decades, equipment has been available, it was nice

         25  to hear that the Parks Department has finally
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          2  gotten, I believe she said, one chair.

          3                 We use them in Long Island, literally

          4  hundreds of rec centers, recreation departments

          5  throughout the United States, these are chairs that

          6  go over beach, water, all that stuff.

          7                 So again, if you're providing

          8  programs you must provide access, and that means if

          9  anyone here was in a wheelchair, they could not go

         10  on this because the Parks Department is not

         11  supplying it.

         12                 This is just one chair.  This is an

         13  adaptive recreation program in Arizona but there are

         14  many different types of chairs.

         15                 Pools of course, a number of the many

         16  pools are ADA.  This is in the Bronx as well.  Pools

         17  of course, there is enormous need for pools.

         18                 This is down the Lower West Side.

         19  The DOT in consultation with the Parks Department

         20  forgot to put in a curb cut, and then by the benches

         21  they put in a paving service that does not support.

         22                 This is just a wonderful example of

         23  the City's incompetence.  They have put in, in East

         24  River Park, they have a turn- style system.  So, any

         25  parent who wants to get their child with a pram, has
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          2  an issue but of course, it excludes people with

          3  physical challenges.  Believe it or not, there's

          4  actually a Memorandum of Understanding that says

          5  that the Parks Department, if there is an employee

          6  on site, they will open up the gate. These are the

          7  kind of arrangements we're actually making  It's

          8  completely absurd.

          9                 I was very happy you brought up the

         10  amphitheater, again, the amphitheater in 2001 was

         11  renovated without putting  -- making any

         12  accommodations to ADA seating, and that has since

         13  been rectified, but again, they are in violation of

         14  the law for allowing the construction to go forward.

         15                 This is not a city park, this is

         16  actually Paley Park, but again, just again some of

         17  the other issues dealing with accessibility.  This

         18  is on 51st Street in Manhattan. Unbelievable, city

         19  and state funds, thank you, thanks for your comments

         20  as well, putting in hundreds of millions of dollars

         21  on the West Side, the Hudson River Park Trust.

         22  These lovely five inch curbs prevent  --  if you

         23  wanted to for instance talk to that gentlemen, a

         24  person in a wheelchair would have to stand outside

         25  of the`safety zone,' and obviously you can see,
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          2  they're not using paving materials that are  --

          3  same thing here, you know, we haven't added this up

          4  yet, but we think as much as 80 percent of the park

          5  facilities is completely inaccessible.  That is a

          6  five inch curb.  So guess what?  Come enjoy our park

          7  as long as you're not in a wheelchair.

          8                 Again, these aren't capital issues.

          9  These are design.  You could put a curb cut there.

         10  You could have designed this so easily but it takes

         11  the sensitivity and the awareness to do it, and

         12  hopefully with this city council's pushing.

         13                 Bryant Park, one of the things that

         14  they do well there, unlike Central Park's Great

         15  Lawn, which you actually do not have access to

         16  because there is a lip there, the Bryant Park has

         17  done this well, and you can see how that works.

         18  There's a nice place there.

         19                 This is one thing the Hudson River

         20  Park Trust is doing well.  They actually have put in

         21  accessible equipment.  So, if you are in a

         22  wheelchair or if you just want to have some fun with

         23  elevated play features, you can.

         24                 Again, it's very simple, and it's

         25  unbelievable. You guys were asking about the cost.
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          2  Of course it varies, absolutely but I talk to

          3  manufacturers all the time about play equipment.  I

          4  mean, virtually, it's indistinguishable.

          5                 That's what a accessible porta- san

          6  looks like, this is why I have to go around shooting

          7  accessible porta- sans. But anyway, what's amazing

          8  is, what they have done down there which is great,

          9  their bathrooms are accessible and when they're not,

         10  that's why these exist, because after hours they

         11  have these. So again.

         12                 This is the Parks Department, lovely.

         13    Independent access which I don't know how much

         14  that phrase was used today. That is a huge issue,

         15  independent access.  Before last year you would

         16  actually have to call the Parks Department, and they

         17  would throw out a ramp like Blackbeard's Island,

         18  they would throw out a ramp and you would gain

         19  access.  This is the Parks Department, okay?

         20                 I want to read something that is

         21  directly quoted, according to the Parks Department,

         22  in January 13th of`05, they finally announced that

         23  they were going to comply with ADA,`05. It's on

         24  their website, okay, they said that they were not

         25  required to comply with ADA because of the Arsenal
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          2  status as a landmark, temporary "grandfathers out"

          3  of fulfilling that obligation.  This is the Parks

          4  Department talking about access to their own

          5  building.  I think that says it pretty clear.

          6                 That was the other entrance to the

          7  Parks Department, as you can see, not accessible.

          8                 So here they are finally, they opened

          9  it up, they couldn't even get it opened before the

         10  15th anniversary.  It actually opened up a month

         11  after 15 years, and there it is.

         12                 This is a bathroom, Parks Department

         13  jimmie- rigged their bathroom.  It's 32 3/4 inches,

         14  there's no railing in the back, it's just, yeah.

         15                 This is the Central Park Conservancy,

         16  some things they do well, some things they do not.

         17  This is a brand new  -- they have, what's

         18  infuriating about this stuff is that they have

         19  space.  They could have put the 60 inches across

         20  that is also acceptable but they went with this.

         21                 This is the amount of space in the

         22  Conservatory gardens that they have.

         23                 This is a renovated, at the boat

         24  house, they never even bothered to make that

         25  compliant.  Here this is the boathouses private
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          2  bathrooms for the restaurant.  There's no hand-

          3  railings as you see.

          4                 Central Park again, one of the things

          5  they did in 2001 is they installed in those signs,

          6  those 3- sided signs, not one mention of ADA,

          7  nothing in any of their signs.  Their map, the map

          8  that they gave out for the 150th Anniversary, no

          9  mention.

         10                 Brand new playground  --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Geoff, can you

         12  wrap it up?

         13                 MR. CROFT:   --  Sure, sure, I can.

         14                 Six million dollars, only out of all

         15  of this, three acres of parkland, only three

         16  features are what they consider ADA, three features.

         17    This is a water feature built from scratch, never

         18  bothered.  Again, that's park of the brand new

         19  Hecksher Playground in Central Park, completely

         20  inaccessible.

         21                 This like many parts of Central Park,

         22  not only can this woman not gain access to the

         23  emergency phones, but the phones are high and this

         24  one is above a fence.  They also have a curbing.

         25                 Madison Square, same deal, the
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          2  curbing.

          3                 One of the largest areas in Union

          4  Square Park, again, you cannot gain access to it,

          5  and chairs and tables were recently installed in

          6  Union Square Park that are not accessible.

          7                 This is the last slide councilwoman,

          8  brand new park, opened up eight days ago.  Barretto

          9  Point Park, there's virtually nothing for a child to

         10  do that's in a wheelchair there. And this is again,

         11  we are allowing the Parks Department to continue

         12  this.

         13                 This is in Hunts Point, I believe,

         14  and it's in Ms. Palma's district, and this is  --

         15  they did do some things well there, they did put in

         16  some benches again, there are no signs there to

         17  indicate anything.  The bathroom, brand new

         18  bathroom, they did make it ADA, but again, it's so

         19   --  it's not uniform.             They pick and

         20  choose what they want to comply with, and I guess

         21  that's pretty much about it.

         22                 Yes, signage is obviously a big

         23  issue, and again to reiterate, that transitional

         24  report was supposed to be done 15 years ago, and I

         25  guess it's great that we're finally getting one in
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          2  2007.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  One thing that

          5  would be helpful to me and the staff, maybe we can

          6  do it independently, I realize that you seen to be

          7  very knowledgeable about this.  I'd be interested in

          8  seeing what kind of equipment is available for the

          9  disabled because, I mean, there are obviously

         10  certain things that certain disabled people, at

         11  least, can do, and yet, you do want to see them in

         12  the park.  Things like a jungle gym, or climbing

         13  equipment, someone with certain disabilities can't

         14  use climbing equipment.

         15                 MR. CROFT:  Absolutely, sure.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  And yet, we

         17  don't want to eliminate climbing equipment.

         18                 MR. CROFT:  Sure.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  So I would like

         20  to see what kind of things they could put in  --  I

         21  am not familiar with many things.  I can think of

         22  some, but not an awful lot frankly.

         23                 MR. CROFT:  Sure.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  So, I'd like to

         25  see what kind of things you would suggest, and
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          2  anybody else in the room, what kind of things you

          3  would suggest for kids in the park who have

          4  disabilities.

          5                 MR. CROFT:  Sure, yes, I mean I think

          6  most of it is actually just, again, part of it is

          7  common sense.  We're not reinventing the wheel.

          8  This stuff exists.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  That I would

         10  like to see.

         11                 MR. CROFT:  Yes, and the idea is to

         12  include kids. Obviously not all children can do  --

         13  perform and have that same facilities but the idea

         14  is to bring them together, not isolate them, and

         15  having one playground in each borough that's fully

         16  accessible is completely absurd.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

         18  much.

         19                 Again Anne, thank you for bringing

         20  this to my attention earlier this year so that we

         21  could get on it, and we will follow up with the

         22  concerns with the Parks Department, and I know you

         23  had names about equipment.

         24                 MS. EMERMAN:  Yes, and a catalogue.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay, if you
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          2  could forward that to Fredy, all right?

          3                 MS. EMERMAN:  Boundless playgrounds.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Boundless

          5  playgrounds, okay.

          6                 Great, if you can get that

          7  information, we will look into it.

          8                 Thank you very much.

          9                 (Hearing concluded at 4:05 p.m.)
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